Public Document Pack
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

PLANNING PANEL
AGENDA
Venue
Date:
Time:
Contact Officer:

The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven.
CA28 7SJ
Wednesday, 24th November, 2021
2.00 pm
Clive Willoughby
Tel: 07385 362806

1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:

3.

Minutes of the meeting held on 27 October 2021

4.

Schedule of Applications

5.

1 - 14

a)

Application 4/20/2514/0F1 - Land at Low Road, Whitehaven
Application for residential site for up to 99 dwellings.

15 - 46

b)

Application 4/21/2339/0F1 - Jefferson Park, Whitehaven
Application for the construction of 14 dwellings for affordable
rent and associated infrastructure, parking and landscaping.

47 - 74

c)

Application 4/21/2364/0L1 - 6-8 Duke Street, Whitehaven
Application for Listed Building Consent for internal and
external alterations to refurbish existing listed building.

75 - 88

d)

Application 4/21/2365/0F1 - 6-8 Duke Street, Whitehaven
Application for alterations/refurbishment and change of use of
vacant former whittles furniture store to form a community
digital hub and cafe including the creation of a roof terrace.

89 - 108

Schedule of Delegated Decisions

109 -118

6.

Update on Application 4/18/2287/0O1 - Land at Harras Moor,
Whitehaven

7.

Date and Time of Next Meeting:
The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on Wednesday
15 December 2021 at 2:00pm in The Copeland Centre, Catherine
Street, Whitehaven.

119 - 120

Membership: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Michael McVeigh (Deputy Chair),
Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Linda Jones-Bulman, Charles Maudling,
Ged McGrath, Graham Minshaw, Russell Studholme, Eileen Weir and
Doug Wilson.

Contacts:

Direct Dial:
E-mail:
Website:

07385 362806
clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
www.copeland.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3
PLANNING PANEL
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 27 OCTOBER 2021
Present: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Michael McVeigh (Deputy Chair),
Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Linda Jones-Bulman, Charles Maudling,
Ged McGrath, Graham Minshaw, Russell Studholme and Doug Wilson.
Officers: Nick Hayhurst (Head of Planning and Place), Christopher Harrison
(Principal Planning Officer), Chloe Unsworth (Planning Officer), Nicola Hartley
(Head of Corporate Governance and Legal (Monitoring Officer)), Michaela Peet
(Assistant Solicitor) and Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer).

PP 21/48

Apologies for absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Councillor Eileen Weir.
PP 21/49

Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:

Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman declared a non-pecuniary interest in Application
4a (4/19/2140/0O1 – Land to north of Ennerdale Country House Hotel, Cleator)
due to being a Cleator Moor Town Councillor.
Councillor Joan Hully declared non-pecuniary interests in Applications 4a
(4/19/2140/0O1 – Land to north of Ennerdale Country House Hotel, Cleator) due
to being a Cleator Moor Town Councillor and knowing one of the Objectors
(Mr Mulholland).
PP 21/50

Minutes of the meeting held on 29 September 2021

Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting held on
29 September 2021.
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meetings held on 29 September 2021 be
signed by the Chair as a correct record.
PP 21/51

Schedule of Applications

The planning applications were then taken in the following order.

Page 1

Application 4/19/2140/0O1 - Land to North of Ennerdale Country House
Hotel, Cleator

PP 21/52

Following a request made by the Planning Panel at the 29 September 2021
meeting a site visit took place on 13 October.
Present at the site visit were Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Jackie Bowman,
Graham Calvin, Linda Jones-Bulman, Michael McVeigh, Jackie Bowman,
Graham Calvin, Linda Jones-Bulman, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath,
Graham Minshaw, Russell Studholme and Doug Wilson Graham Minshaw and
Russell Studholme.
Note: Councillors Charles Maudling and Doug Wilson were not present at the
29 September meeting and the site visit. They therefore took no part in the
consideration of this application and abstained from voting.
The outline application for residential development (with full details of access)
and demolition of derelict barn was presented by the Principal Planning Officer.
During discussion of this item Mr R Mulholland and Mr M Jackson spoke in
objection to the application.
The applicant, Mr B Butler, then exercised his right to respond.
Note: At this point, Councillor Michael McVeigh declared a non-pecuniary
interest due to knowing Mr Butler many years ago.
Members were then able to ask questions of the planning officers and
Mr Pieter Barnard from the Cumbria County Council Highways Department.
A vote was then taken, the recommendation being to Approve the application in
outline, subject to the conditions shown in the agenda report.
The result of the vote was 4 For, 4 Against and 2 Abstentions.
The Chair then exercised her casting vote against the recommendation.
RESOLVED – that the application be Refused.
As per the Council’s constitution, those members voting against the officer
recommendation were asked to give their reasons for refusal.

Page 2

The reasons for refusal were:
Inadequate information has been submitted to demonstrate that the visibility
splays of 2.4m x 60m identified as deliverable to the proposed vehicle access are
appropriate to the known recorded 85th percentile traffic speeds on the A5086
which significantly exceed the designated 30mph speed limit of the highway.
Inadequate information has also been submitted to demonstrate that a cost
effective scheme of mitigating traffic calming is deliverable that will achieve a
reduction in 85th percentile traffic speeds to a level that makes the visibility
splays of 2.4m x 60m identified as deliverable to the proposed vehicle access
appropriate.
In the context of the above, it has not been demonstrated that the proposed will
not result in unacceptable impacts upon highway safety or that such impacts
can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree in conflict with the
requirements of Policy T1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 and Paragraphs
110 and 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

(Note: A five minute adjournment was taken at this point in the meeting)

Application 4/21/2294/0F1 - West Cumberland Hospital, Homewood
Road, Whitehaven. CA28 8JG.

PP 21/53

Prior to the meeting an addendum report containing late representations was
distributed to all Planning Panel members, both by email and the meeting in
hard copy.
The application for a proposed two storey extension was presented by the
Principal Planning Officer.
During discussion of this item Ms L Brown addressed the panel on behalf of the
applicant.
Following questions from Members, a vote was then taken, the
recommendation being to issue delegated authority to the Head of Planning and
Place to approve Full Planning Permission subject to the following:
- The planning conditions outlined at the end of the addendum report; and,
- The Applicant entering into a Section 106 planning obligation to secure
any required Travel Plan Monitoring fee.

Page 3

The result of the vote was 10 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions.
RESOLVED – that delegated authority be granted to the Head of Planning and
Place to approve Full Planning Permission subject to the following:
- The planning conditions outlined at the end of this report; and,
- The Applicant entering into a Section 106 planning obligation to secure
any required Travel Plan Monitoring fee.
1.

The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.
Reason:
To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Permission shall relate to the following plans and documents as received
on the respective dates and development shall be carried out in
accordance with them: Planning Application Form
Site Location Plan – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V99-ZZ-DR-A-99001 Rev.
P01
Proposed Site Plan – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V99-ZZ-SK-A-99012 Rev.
P02
Block E & F - Proposed New Fire Escape Stair – Drawing No. WCHPH2GDA-V2-ZZ-DR-A-30001 Rev. P02
Proposed Phase 2 Building Level 03 – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-03DR-A-99001 Rev. P01
Proposed Phase 2 Building Level 04 – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-04DR-A-99001 Rev. P01
Proposed Phase 2 Building Level 05 – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-05DR-A-99001 Rev. P01
Proposed Phase 2 Building Roof Level – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-06DR-A-99001 Rev. P01
Proposed Elevations – Sheet 1 of 3 – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-ZZDR-A-99002 Rev. P02
Proposed Elevations – Sheet 2 of 3 – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-ZZDR-A-99003 Rev. P02
Proposed Elevations – Sheet 3 of 3 – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V7-ZZDR-A-99004 Rev. P02
Proposed Phasing Plan – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V99-ZZ-DR-A-10017
Rev. P02

Page 4

Demolition Plan – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V99-ZZ-DR-A-99005 Rev.
P01
Longitudinal Elevations – Drawing No. WCHPH2-GDA-V99-ZZ-DR-A-99006
Rev. P01
Photvoltaic Layout Level 05 Volume 7 Roof – Drawing No. WCHPH2-DSSRV7-05-DR-E-62103 Rev. P1
SAP Ecology and Environmental Ltd – Letter Ref. CCL102 – BQ&H
Transport Assessment Ref: 073096 Revision: V03
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal for BREEAM – Project Number: 60589170
Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment Ref. 073096-CUR-00-XX-RP-GE-001
Rev. P02
Ground Investigation Report Ref. 073983-CUR-00-XX-RP-GE-002 Rev. V01
Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.
Pre-Commencement

3.

Highways
Notwithstanding the submitted detail, no development shall commence
until a detailed specification of the carriageway, footways, footpaths,
cycle ways has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The submitted specifications shall include
longitudinal/cross sections.
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason:
To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway
safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 of the Copeland Local
Plan 2013-2028.

4.

No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic
Management Plan (CTMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The CTMP shall include details of:
- Pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a
Highway Authority representative; with all post repairs carried out to the
satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the applicants expense;

Page 5

- Retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading
for their specific purpose during the development;
- Cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;
- Details of proposed wheel washing facilities;
- The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage
or deposit of any materials on the highway;
- Construction vehicle routing to and from site along local highway
network
- The management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and
other public rights of way/footway;
- Details of any proposed temporary access points (vehicular / pedestrian);
- Surface water management details during the construction phase; and,
- Details of proposed delivery times that will not impact on local highway
network at peak times.
Reason:
To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely impact
upon the fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the
interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with the
provisions of Policy T1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.

5.

Drainage
No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme
has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The drainage scheme must include:
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National
Planning Practice
Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation shall
include evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential
for infiltration of surface water;
(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local
planning authority
(if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations); and
(iii) A timetable for its implementation.
The scheme shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any
subsequent replacement national standards.
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved
details.

Page 6

Reason:
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the
provisions of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan
2013-2028.
6.

No development shall commence until a survey of the piped drainage
systems to be retained on site and connecting to the public sewer and a
scheme of mitigation measures where it is deemed the improvements are
required to bring existing pipe work up to current design standards has
been be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the
provisions of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan
2013-2028.

7.

Landscaping and Parking Layout
No development shall commence until full details of both hard and soft
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include: proposed finished levels or contours;
 means of enclosure;
 car parking layouts;
 other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
 hard surfacing materials;
 minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse
or other storage units, signs, lighting, etc.);
 communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes,
supports); and
 retained landscape features such as trees together with details of how
they will be protected during construction – an Arboricultural Method
Statement.
Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and

Page 7

grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and
proposed numbers / densities; and an implementation programme.
The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed
timetable. Any trees / shrubs which are removed, die, become severely
damaged or diseased within five years of their planting shall be replaced
in the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar size and species
to those originally required to be planted unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason:
These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and
secure high quality landscaping in accordance with Policy DM10 and
Policy DM26 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.

8.

Construction Management
No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall provide for:i. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii. Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii. Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
iv. The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where
appropriate;
v. Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction;
vi. A scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition
and construction works;
vii. Measures to control noise and vibration; and,
viii. Measures or diversions to permit access during the construction.
The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period.
Reason
These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, prevent
highway impacts and ecological impacts in accordance with the provisions
of Policy ST1, ENV3 and T1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.

Page 8

9.

Ground Conditions
No development shall commence until a scheme that includes the following
components to deal with the geotechnical and contaminative risks detailed
in the Preliminary Environmental Risk Assessment shall each be submitted
to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority:
i. Site investigation scheme, based on the Phase 1 Preliminary Risk
Assessment – Report Ref. 073096-CUR-00-XX-RP-GE-001 Revision:
P02 to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all
receptors that may be affected, including those off-site.
ii. The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment
referred to in 1) and, based on these, an options appraisal and
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation or
mitigation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.
iii. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected
in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation
strategy in 2) are complete and identifying any requirements for
longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangement for contingency action.
The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason
To prevent harm to human health and the environment in accordance in
accordance with the provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan
2013-2028.

10.

Noise
No development shall commencement until details of any external plant
to be installed and an assessment of the noise impact of the proposed
development on existing residential dwellings has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The assessment shall
address the potential for noise to occur which may impact upon the
amenity of the occupier(s) of the dwellings and shall identify fully all
measures which are required to control the impact of that noise.
All approved control measures shall be implemented prior to first
occupation of the building and shall be retained as such thereafter. A
verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority confirming that all measures in the approved
assessment have been implemented in full prior to first occupation of the
building.

Page 9

Reason
To protect the amenity of adjacent residential properties in accordance
with the provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.
Pre-occupancy or Other Stage Conditions

11.

12.

Highways
Notwithstanding the submitted details, ramps shall be provided on each
side of every junction to enable wheelchairs, pushchair's etc. to be safely
manoeuvred at kerb lines. Details of all such ramps shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval before development
commences. Any details so approved shall be constructed as part of the
development.
Reason:
To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway
safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 of the Copeland Local
Plan 2013-2028.
Notwithstanding the submitted details, footways shall be provided that
link continuously and conveniently to the nearest existing footway.
Pedestrian routes within and to and from the site shall be provided that is
convenient to use.
Reason:
To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway
safety in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 of the Copeland Local
Plan 2013-2028.

13.

Within 6 months of the development hereby approved being brought into
use, a Full Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the local
planning authority. The Travel Plan shall include a completed travel
survey, SMART objectives and an undertaking to provide annual reports
reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan including necessary
amendments or measures for the at least 5 years from the travel plans
approval.
Reason:
To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives in accordance
with the provisions of Policy T1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.

Page 10

14.

Drainage
The development hereby approved shall not be brought into operational
use until a management and maintenance plan for the surface water
drainage scheme for the lifetime of the development has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
As a minimum the plan shall include arrangements for inspection and
ongoing maintenance of all elements of the surface water drainage
scheme to secure its effective operation for the lifetime of the
development.
The development shall maintained and managed in accordance with the
approved management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the
development.
Reason:
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to
manage the risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the
provisions of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan
2013-2028.

15.

Materials
No superstructure shall be erected until samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason:
To ensure the development is of a high quality design in accordance with
Policy DM10 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.

16.

Ground Conditions
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be
reported in writing within 14 days to the Local Planning Authority and
once the Local Planning Authority has identified the part of the site
affected by the unexpected contamination, development must be halted
on that part of the site.

Page 11

An assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation,
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be
implemented in accordance with the approved timetable. Following
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
validation report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To prevent harm to human health and the environment in accordance
with the provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028.

17.

Ecology
The development here by approved shall not proceed except in
accordance with the recommendations described in the SAP Ecology and
Environmental Ltd – Letter Ref. CCL102 – BQ&H and Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal for BREEAM – Project Number: 60589170.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and to prevent harm to biodiversity in
accordance with the provisions of Policy ENV3 of the Copeland Local Plan
2013-2028.

18.

External Lighting
No development shall commence until a scheme for the provision of
external lighting has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include full details of the
location, design, luminance levels, light spillage and hours of use of all
external lighting within the site.
The approved lighting scheme shall be implemented in full prior to first
occupation of the development hereby approved.
Reason
These details are required to be approved before the commencement of
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and to
minimise light pollution in accordance with the provisions of Policy T1 of
the Copeland Local plan 2013-2028.

Page 12

19.

Working Hours
No work for the construction of these developments, including
demolition, shall take place on the site, except between the hours:
08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday; and
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays;
Reason
To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with
the provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local plan 2013-2028.

PP 21/54

Application 4/21/2390/0F1 - Unit 16 Leconfield Industrial Estate, Cleator

Moor
The application for the erection of a temporary modular building to the rear of
the unit and erection of 7ft fence was presented by the Planning Officer.
Following questions from Members, a vote was then taken.
The result of the vote was 10 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions.
RESOLVED – that the application be Approved.

Application 4/21/2421/0F1 - Land to the rear of 31 South Row,
Whitehaven

PP 21/55

The application for the erection of a garage on existing site (retrospective) was
presented by the Planning Officer.
Following questions from Members, a vote was then taken.
The result of the vote was 10 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstentions.
RESOLVED – that the application be Approved.

Page 13

PP 21/56

Schedule of Delegated Decisions

The Panel was notified of a number of delegated decisions made during the
period 20 September 2021 to 18 October 2021.
RESOLVED – that the Schedule of Delegated Decisions from 20 September 2021
to 18 October 2021 be noted.

PP 21/57

Development Management Performance Monitoring

Members received the Development Management Performance figures for the
second quarter of 2021/22 (1st July 2021 – 30th September 2021) against the
National Performance Indicators.
RESOLVED – that the Development Management Performance Monitoring
report be noted and the Planning team be thanked for their continued hard
work.

PP 21/58

Date and Time of Next Meeting:

The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on Wednesday
24 November 2021 at 2:00pm in The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street,
Whitehaven.

The Meeting closed at 3.45 pm

Chair

Page 14

Agenda Item 4a

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Management Section

Date of Meeting: 24/11/2021

Application Number:

4/20/2514/0F1

Application Type:

Full : CBC

Applicant:

Astime Properties Limited

Application Address:

LAND AT LOW ROAD, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

RESIDENTIAL SITE FOR UP TO 99 DWELLINGS

Parish:

Whitehaven

Recommendation Summary:

Issue delegated authority to the Head of Planning
and Place to approve Full Planning Permission
subject to the following:
- The planning conditions outlined at the end
of this report
- The Applicant entering into a Section 106
planning obligation to secure 12 affordable
units, the provision and maintenance of
open space, the provision and maintenance
of an attenuation pond and any required
Travel Plan Monitoring fee.

Page 15

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the
Planning and Place Manager considers it to be of sufficient importance in planning terms to
refer to the Planning Panel for determination.

Introduction
This application relates to an area of scrub land which fronts onto Low Road and lies
adjacent to the cemetery. It covers an area of approximately 3.4 hectares. The site
previously housed a large workhouse building which was demolished due to subsidence.

Proposal
This Full Planning Application seeks permission for residential development on the site,
comprising 99 dwellings. The number has been reduced from the previous scheme

Page 16

approved on the site due to the need to comply with updated guidance in relation to
drainage and highway design.
The proposed dwellings are to be a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed detached and semidetached units. The development has been designed to take advantage of the slope across
the site which falls to meet Low Road on its eastern boundary. This will allow the inclusion
of a variation in heights of between 2 and 3 storeys.
The dwellings are to be constructed in a mixture of brick and render and will have tiled
pitched roofs. The houses are to be arranged around a circular estate road which will be
accessed off Low Road using an existing entrance.
Twelve of the units are to be affordable.
Several areas of open space and landscaping are to be provided within the layout. The open
space nearest to Low Road is to contain an attenuation pond which will be used to control
surface water run-off from the site. A footpath link is also to be created to provide access
from the site onto Low Road.
An existing belt of vegetation is to be retained along the western boundary to provide a soft
edge to the development with the adjoining cemetery.
The application is accompanied by the following information:-

Site Location Plan

-

Proposed Site Plan

-

Proposed Street Elevations and Sections

-

Existing Site Survey

-

Elevation and Layout Plans for each dwelling type

-

Drainage Strategy Layout

-

Transport Assessment

-

Phase 1 Desk Study

-

Coal Mining Risk Assessment

-

Ecological Appraisal

-

Design and Access Statement

-

Tree Report

-

Flood Risk Assessment

Relevant Planning Application History
Retail park consisting of 5 units, filling station with associated roads and parking area,
approved in June 1990 (application reference 4/90/0234/0 relates);
Outline application for proposed housing development, approved in December 2001
(application reference 4/01/0681/0 relates);

Page 17

Erection of 17 no. houses, approved in April 2002, (application reference 4/02/0080/0
relates);
Outline application for 114 dwellings comprising of detached and semi-detached and
terraced houses plus apartments, approved in September 2006 (application reference
4/06/2457/0 relates);
Application to extend extant planning permission (4/06/2457/0 – outline application for 114
dwellings) in order to extend the time limit for implementation, approved in October 2011
(application reference 4/11/2375/0O1 relates);
Residential development (107 dwellings), approved in April 2015 (application reference
4/15/2007/0F1 relates);
Variation of conditions 4, 5, 7, 11, 12, 14, 15, 19, 20 and 21 of planning approval
4/15/2007/0F1 (107 dwellings), approved in July 2019 (application reference
4/19/2105/0B1 relates).

Consultation Responses
Whitehaven Town Council
No objections.
Cumbria Highways
First response
I am giving this application a look over one thing to note, the Transport Assessment is from
2014 which is considered out of date, I would suggest the applicant carry out a new TA
which takes into account new developments in the area.
Second response
Further to the submission of an updated Transport Assessment, the following comments
were made:
The site has a longstanding history with planning consent 4-15-2007 for up to 107 dwellings
which was approved in 2016. As planning consent appears to have expired in December
2019, this application has been submitted with a reduction in dwelling numbers from 107 to
99 and updated drainage information and an EVA access.
The site is located on the outskirts of Whitehaven with public transport links nearby and the
town is within walking distance so is considered sustainable.
I would reiterate what has been previously said with regard to the steep nature of the site,
whilst the primary road and secondary roads are within the CDDG guidelines of 1 in 20 and 1
in 10 gradients the site is not compliant with regard to DDA/Lifetime Homes requirements
and there will be a requirement to have grit bins strategically placed at junctions/corners.
The addition of an EVA is welcomed, however after further consideration given its location
and gradient there is concern that pedestrians or playing children using bicycles may lose

Page 18

control going down the EVA and over-running out onto the public highway, this could be
mitigated through the use.
The carriageway and footways at the proposed access are considered wide enough to allow
and given the location of the internal junction loop road in relation to the access off the
B5345 there is no longer a requirement for an EVA.
The proposed speed humps located around the development to reduce speeds need to be
replaced with speed tables, this can be secured through condition.
It is noted that there is a requirement to have carriageway drainage connection agreed with
the highway authority at the proposed access into the existing system, if the site is to be
adopted then I see no opposition to this requirement, I will seek to secure further detailed
information in respect of highway drainage.
It should be noted that the detention basin despite its use in attenuating highway surface
water would not be adopted by this authority, therefore a management and maintenance
plan will be required and a suitable maintenance company appointed at the expense of the
applicant. A travel plan is required for this site to encourage a modal shift away from private
car use and encourage more sustainable travel. A Travel Plan is a “living document” that
needs to be updated, amended, approved and monitored throughout the life of the
development. There are administration cost implications for the County Council as the Local
Highway Authority relating to elements such as reviewing the implementation and
management of the travel plan, providing advice on its monitoring or future review,
travelling to and attending meetings with the development’s travel plan coordinator,
reviewing marketing material, reviewing survey results. In order for this work to be
undertaken by the County Council’s Travel Plan Coordinator, a financial contribution will be
required from the developer towards staff costs incurred by the County Council and this
should be included as part of a Section 106 Agreement.
The cost to a developer for this input from the County Council’s Travel Plan Coordinator will
be a contribution of £6,600 to cover the 5 year period of the travel plan.
Given the constraints of the existing highway towards Low Road, Whitehaven all traffic
associated with the construction of the development must access from the A595 (T) along
the C4035 and then B5345. Concern has been raised in relation to existing highway
infrastructure on the B5345 at Low Rd, Whitehaven, and possible request for contributions
from this development, however given the intensive nature of the works required,
timescale's and associated costs it would not be feasible to secure contributions in this
respect.
There are no concerns from a PROW or Archaeological perspective.
Summary - No objections, subject to conditions.
Local Lead Flood Authority
The applicant proposes a betterment to the Qbar discharge rate which is welcomed, the
drainage hierarchy has been considered and overall the proposed strategy is acceptable to
the LLFA.

Page 19

The LLFA agrees with the findings of the FRA in that a full repair of the existing culvert along
the northern site boundary/cemetery is required and will be secured through condition, this
is an ordinary water course so consent will be required from LLFA to carry out works.
Detailed within the surveys and as a recommendation by the RG-Parkins is that the LLFA
liaise with the downstream landowners in regard to repair of the culverted water course
within the cemetery, given the cost implications of constructing a new drain circa 400m in
length within the public highway has the applicant considered approaching CBC with a view
to repairing the damaged sections of culvert within the cemetery through appointed
contractor or thorough developer contributions?
This would then give the option for the site to connect to the existing culvert either within
the development site subject to levels or within the footway along the B5345 as previously
suggested.
It would also remove the requirement for a survey and assessment downstream of the new
connection point below Jefferson Park.
No objections, subject to conditions.
United Utilities
Following our review of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, ref:
K36110/01/FRA/CA dated 25/11/2020 proposing surface water discharging into
watercourse via existing highway drain and new surface water sewer, we can confirm the
proposals are acceptable in principle to United Utilities and therefore should planning
permission be granted we request the following condition is attached to any subsequent
Decision Notice:
Condition 1 – Surface water
The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance with
principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, ref:
K36110/01/FRA/CA dated 25/11/2020 proposing surface water discharging into
watercourse via existing highway drain and new surface water sewer. No surface water will
be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public sewer. Any variation to the
discharge of foul shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
commencement of the development. The development shall be completed in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in
surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding.
Condition 2 – Foul water
Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason: To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.
The Environment Agency
Environment Agency position – Flood risk.

Page 20

We have no objection to the proposed development.
The development site is located in flood zone 1, and drains to the main river Pow Beck
which runs in culvert at this location.
We are satisfied that the necessary discussions are ongoing between the applicant and the
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and United Utilities development planning and SUDS
consultees regarding the drainage of this site.
Environment Agency position – Contaminated Land
The previous use of the proposed development site as an infirmary presents a high risk of
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled waters.
Controlled waters are particularly sensitive in this location because the proposed
development site is located upon a secondary aquifer B.
In light of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if a planning condition is
included requiring the submission of a remediation strategy. This should be carried out by a
competent person in line with paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Without this condition we would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 170 of the
National Planning Policy Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the development
will not be put at unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
water pollution.
Condition
No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a remediation
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site in respect of the
development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. This strategy will include the following components:
1.

A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:

•

All previous uses

•

Potential contaminants associated with those uses

•

A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors

•

Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site

2.

A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site.

3.

The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in
(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.

4.

A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete

Page 21

and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reasons
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at unacceptable risk
from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in line with paragraph
170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
To prevent deterioration of a water quality element to a lower status class in the Secondary
B aquifer and the near surface water which sources the springs emanating to the west of the
site.
Flood and Coastal Drainage Engineer
First response
Generally with regards to flooding and drainage, I happy with most things that are within
the Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, but there are still a few niggling queries.
My main comments and queries are as follows:












It’s good to see that a cut off drain has proposed along the western boundary of the
site to intercept flow from the higher ground to the west of the site.
This should be installed at the commencement of site works as it will minimise water
external to the site affecting the site works.
It is proposed to connect this land drain into the culvert that runs through part of the
site close to the boundary with Whitehaven Cemetery.
The culvert appears to be blocked, or collapse in this area and needs repaired prior
to the land drain being connected into it.
The repair isn’t actually a planning matter, but I suggest that it be conditioned that
the repairs are undertaken prior to the land drain being connected into the culvert.
Most of the proposed highway drainage from the site is to be directed to a detention
pond in the north east corner of the site and released off site at a limit of 5l/s.
However, because of the site topography, it is proposed that the site highway
drainage from the new access rood will need to be connected to the existing
highway drainage in Low Road.
This will need to be approved by Cumbria Highways in advance, otherwise
alternative arrangements for the highway drainage for the access road will need to
be agreed prior to planning approval.
Each individual plot is to have a geo-cellular storage crate beneath the shared drive,
with discharge limited to 0.1l/s.
It is intended that the surface water system and SUDS components will be offered
for adoption by the sewerage undertaker and or highways authority, so these
aspects of the system need to be approved by the appropriate agency.
The detention pond is to be maintained by a private management company.

Page 22











The individual plot drainage will remain the responsibility of the plot owner,
although I’m not sure how this would work for the storage crates beneath shared
drives.
Off-site the surface water system will be a 150mm pipe installed beneath Low Road
to an existing culvert near the junction of Low Road and Meadow Road.
I’m not sure how practical this is in terms of other service along the route.
Ultimately the surface water will discharge to Pow Beck, which is the catchment the
greenfield runoff ends up in, although I’m not convinced that the routing via the
culvert is the appropriate means in terms of sub catchment and capacity considering
it wasn’t possible to survey the culvert and assess its condition. [The culvert through
the site and Whitehaven Cemetery was discounted due to it being in very poor
condition in parts – that would be my problem to solve.]
In the case of an exceedance event, exceedance flows are to be directed from the
detention pond into an adjacent landscaped area.
Calculations based on the existing site being greenfield, although classed as
brownfield, and a 1% event with 40% uplift for climate change and 10% for urban
creep based on plot area.
One thing that I didn’t see is management of surface water on site during
construction, to prevent water running off site onto Low Road.

Agent’s response
I have read at length David’s comments with reference to the Surface water design and I
can’t see with the except of my comments below that there is anything specifically to reply
or comment on at this time unless you advise otherwise as his points appears positive or
neutral in this respect.
1. Repairs to culvert - bullet point 5, I note this is confirmed as not being a planning matter
as such I can’t see a Planning Condition can be attached to a Decision notice. It remains that
the culvert and pipework in the cemetery is CBC drains and you should complete any drain
repairs irrespective of the current planning application.
2. Management of Surface Water during construction - last bullet point. If you would like a
statement regarding this please let me know and I will ask RG Parkins to produce the
relevant report.
Second response
With regards to the tow points below, either I'd made an error in my original bullet point, or
the Agent has miss understood it.
I was referring to the section of the culvert within the development site, which is the
developer’s responsibility, not the section in Whitehaven Cemetery, which is Copeland's
responsibility
Part of the boundary wall between the development site and Whitehaven Cemetery has
collapsed and I was informed that this was down to water coming from the damaged
section of culvert within the development.
With regards to the second point, I would expect that this can be covered within the
Construction Management Plan, assuming one is to be submitted.

Page 23

The Coal Authority
The Coal Authority concurs with the recommendations of the supporting Coal Mining Risk
Assessment report; that intrusive investigations are required along with remedial/mitigatory
measures, in order to ensure the safety and stability of the proposed development.
As such, should planning permission be granted for the proposed development, we would
recommend that the following conditions are included on the Decision Notice:
•

No development shall commence until a scheme of intrusive investigations has been
carried out on site to locate and establish the condition of recorded mine shaft
297516-023 and to establish the risks posed to the development by past shallow coal
mining activity. The intrusive site investigations shall be carried out in accordance
with authoritative UK guidance.

•

No development shall commence until a detailed remediation scheme to protect the
development from the effects of coal mining legacy related land stability risks has
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for consideration and approval in
writing. The scheme shall be informed by the results of intrusive site investigations
(required by condition X above) and shall include details of the proposed treatment
of recorded mine entry 297516-023 and any treatment works required in respect of
past shallow coal mining activity. Following approval, the remedial works shall be
implemented on site in accordance with the approved details.

•

Following the implementation and completion of the approved remediation scheme
(required by condition XX above) and prior to the first occupation of the
development, a signed statement or declaration prepared by a suitably competent
person confirming that the site is, or has been made, safe and stable for the
approved development shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for
approval in writing.

The Coal Authority therefore wishes to raise no objection to the proposed development
subject to the imposition of the above conditions. This is our recommendation for condition
wording. Whilst we appreciate that you may wish to make some amendment to the choice
of words, we would respectfully request that the specific parameters to be satisfied are not
altered by any changes that may be made.
Natural England
No objection. Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed
development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature
conservation sites or landscapes.
Council Arborist Consultant (Capita)
Consent for the development of this site was granted in 2016. However, the proposal was
not started within the three-year commencement date. This application seeks to renew the
previous application Ref. 4/15/2007/0F1.
My colleague Rob Sim commented on the original application on the 25 February 2015.

Page 24

I have no further comments to make only that conditions relating to landscaping and tree
protection measures are carried over from the previous consent to this application, should it
prove acceptable.
Copeland Housing Strategy
First response
We recognise that 3 and 4 bedroom properties are popular with families and younger
professional people with higher incomes and will attract people to the area, but would
recommend a slightly higher number of 2 bedroom properties, taking into account evidence
in the SHMA (2019) and Housing Needs Survey report (2020) – both indicated a greater
need of 2 and 3 bedroomed properties.
The design and access statement refers to 12 affordable units on the site, but the
application suggests market housing only – clarification has been sought from the agent but
is still outstanding at the time of this response. The 2019 SHMA indicated that there was
need for around 83 affordable units per year over the period 2017-2035, predominately in
the Whitehaven Housing Market area. This was confirmed by the Housing Needs Survey and
Report issued in 2020, which also found that over half of newly forming households in
Copeland could not afford an average priced dwelling without spending more than 33% of
their gross income and almost a third could not afford a lower quartile dwelling. These
figures were slightly higher for the Whitehaven area. We would therefore encourage
provision of affordable housing on this site, and a mix of affordable sale and rent, in line
with the D&A statement.
Overall, we are supportive of this application, recognising that it will provide modern family
homes close to the town centre.
Agent response
Apologies for the confusion on this, it is proposed that affordable housing are all the two
bedroomed units highlighted in blue to the South of the site, their plots numbers are 60 - 71
inclusive and this follows the original planning consent where the affordable were in the
same location. With regards the tenure of these a split of 6 rented / shared ownership
would be consider appropriate.
It is not proposed to alter the overall housing mix for the site to increase two bedroomed
houses as we believe there is sufficient supply of this housing type. At the time of writing
there are currently 60, two bedroomed properties on the market within Whitehaven with
prices between £45k - £240k, including shared ownership and retirement apartments as
such an increase over the numbers proposed is not an acceptable option for this site, and
not the housing assessment ones to reflect live market trends / forces.
Second response
We recognise that 3 and 4 bedroom properties are popular with families and younger
professional people with higher incomes and will attract people to the area, but would
recommend a slightly higher number of 2 bedroom properties, taking into account evidence
in the SHMA (2019) and Housing Needs Survey report (2020) – both indicated a greater

Page 25

need of 2 and 3 bedroomed properties. The agent’s comment re the number of 2-bedroom
properties for sale in Whitehaven currently is noted, however.
We understand that it is proposed to develop 12 affordable units on this site, as a mix of
shared ownership and rental, and we very much welcome this proposal. We are aware that
first time buyers often struggle to achieve the deposit levels required to get a mortgage and
would encourage this to be considered by the developer in terms of the offer.
The 2019 SHMA indicated that there was need for around 83 affordable units per year over
the period 2017-2035, predominately in the Whitehaven Housing Market area. This was
confirmed by the Housing Needs Survey and Report issued in 2020, which also found that
over half of newly forming households in Copeland could not afford an average priced
dwelling without spending more than 33% of their gross income and almost a third could
not afford a lower quartile dwelling. These figures were slightly higher for the Whitehaven
area.
Overall, we are supportive of this application, recognising that it will provide modern family
homes close to the town centre.
Cumbria County Council Education Department
Pupil Yield Assessment
A total of 99 dwellings are proposed. Within the submitted planning application form the
dwelling mix is specified as being 12 x 2-bedroom dwellings, 43 x 3-bedroom dwellings and
44 x 4-bedroom dwellings. These figures have been utilised in a dwelling-mix led assessment
of pupil yield from the development. This assessment calculates that the proposed
development would yield an estimated 40 children: consisting of 23 primary school age
pupils (comprising 10 infant and 13 junior) and 17 secondary school age pupils.
Nearest Schools
Nearest Primary Schools: The proposed development site is in the catchment areas of Kells
Infant School and Monkwray Junior School both of which lie approximately 0.9miles from
the site. There are six other primary schools within the statutory 2 mile primary school
walking threshold of the site. These comprise: St Mary’s Catholic Primary School (0.9 mile),
St Begh's Catholic Junior School (1 mile), Valley Primary School (1.6 miles), St Gregory's & St
Patrick's Catholic Infant School (1.6 miles), St James' C of E Infant School (1.6 miles), and St
James' Junior School (1.7 miles).
Nearest Secondary Schools: The proposed development site is in the catchment area of
Whitehaven Academy which lies approximately 2.5miles from the site. The next nearest
secondary school is St Benedict's Catholic High School which lies approximately 2.7 miles
from the site and is therefore also within the statutory 3 mile secondary school walking
distance threshold.
School Capacity
Primary School Capacity for Infants: Currently the nearest two schools with infant provision
do not have sufficient capacity to accommodate all of the primary infant yield of 10 from
this development. However, there are three other schools with infant provision within the 2

Page 26

mile walking threshold of the site, and each of these has more than sufficient available
infant places to accommodate the full estimated primary infant yield of this development in
themselves. Therefore an education contribution is not required for the infant age pupils
estimated to be yielded from this development.
Primary School Capacity for Juniors: There are currently projected to be 45 junior places
available in the catchment school of Monkwray. There are also junior spaces available
across the four other schools with junior provision within the 2 mile walking threshold of the
site. Consequently an education contribution would not be required in connection with the
13 junior age pupils estimated to be yielded from this development.
Secondary School Capacity: There are sufficient places to accommodate the estimated
secondary pupil yield of 17 from this development at Whitehaven Academy. Therefore no
education contribution would be required in connection with secondary school capacity.
It should be noted that should your council be minded to grant planning permission for the
currently undetermined application for full planning permission for the erection of 40
dwellings on Land at Water’s Edge, Whitehaven (Planning Application Reference
4/20/2455/0F1), that this would not affect the ultimate conclusion that no education
contributions are required in connection with this application (4/20/2514/0F1).
It should also be noted that the above analysis represents a snapshot in time.
Public Representation
The application has been advertised by way of a site notice, press notice and neighbour
notification letters issued to 13 no. properties.
No comments have been received as a result of these advertisements.

Planning Policies
Planning law requires applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 (Adopted December 2013) (CS)
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer
Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth
Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability
Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport
Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management
Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Page 27

Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards
Policy DM12 – Standards for New Residential Development
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments
Policy DM24 – Development Proposals and Flood Risk
Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species
Policy DM26 – Landscaping
Policy DM28 – Protection of Trees
Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP) :
Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements
HSG2 – New Housing Allocations
Proposals Map including settlement boundaries.

Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
National Design Guide (NDG)
Manual for Streets
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR).
Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDDG).
Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 (SHMA)
Copeland Housing Strategy 2019
Copeland Borough-Wide Housing Needs Survey 2020
Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ECLP)
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 was recently the subject of a Preferred
Options Consultation. The Preferred Options Consultation builds upon the completed Issues
and Options Consultation which finished in January 2020. Given the stage of preparation,
the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has only limited weight in decision making,
but provides an indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which
themselves have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Page 28

Assessment
The main issues raised by this application relate to the principle of development, housing
need, layout, scale and design, ecology, trees, highway safety, drainage and ground
conditions. These are considered below.
Principle of the development
Policies ST1 and ST2 along with Policies SS1, SS2, and SS3 of the Copeland Local Plan 20132028 seek to promote sustainable development to meet the need and aspirations of the
Borough’s housing market. These policies further concentrate development within the
defined settlement boundaries in accordance with the Borough’s settlement hierarchy. The
NPPF also seeks to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply
of housing through sustainable development.
This site has already had the benefit of planning permission in the past which has
established the principle of developing the land for residential purposes. The site is
brownfield land and lies within the settlement boundary for Whitehaven, the Principal town
within the Borough. Its development for housing is consistent with the strategic
development principles set out in Policies ST1 and ST2 of the Local Plan.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development to developments relating to the provision of housing where there
are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the local planning
authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the
appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 74); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates
that the delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing
requirement over the previous three years.
In November 2020, the Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land
Supply Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites
against the emerging housing requirement and a 55 year supply against the Government’s
standard methodology figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent
Housing Delivery Test.
Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the CS and LP must be considered out of date.
Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in
December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the Core Strategy.
The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base of documents which includes a
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The SHMA calculates the housing need in
Copeland over the plan period of 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum.
The ECLP confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will
be required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.
Policy ST2 also does not accord with the NPPF which requires local planning authorities to
significantly boost housing delivery.

Page 29

In the context of the above, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged and the policies of the
Development Plan which are most important for determining the application are to be
considered out of date and it required that planning permission be granted unless:
i. the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.
In applying the provisions of Paragraph 11:
-

the Application Site comprises a parcel of brownfield land that is within the
settlement boundary of Whitehaven in a location that is considered to be a
sustainable location for new residential development;

-

the proposed development would assist in significantly boosting housing supply to
meet the identified need for housing within Whitehaven and the wider Borough as
detailed in Policy ST2 of the CS;

-

the proposed development comprising the erection of 99 dwellings is appropriate in
size and character to the Principal Centre of Whitehaven in accordance with the
spatial objectives of Policy ST2 and ST2 of the CS;

-

the Site is located in close and convenient proximity to the wide range of services
and employment opportunities located within Whitehaven, many of which are
located within walking distance of the Application Site.

-

Sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity of the site

Housing Need and Housing Mix
Policy SS3 of the LP states that applications for housing development should demonstrate
how the proposals help to deliver a range of good quality and affordable homes for
everyone. It is confirmed that development proposals will be assessed according to how
well they meet the identified need and aspirations of the Borough’s individual Housing
Market Areas as set out in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment including: creating a
more balanced mix of housing types and tenures within the housing market area; including
a proportion of affordable housing that makes the maximum contribution to meeting the
identified needs in the housing market areas; and, establishing a supply of sites suitable for
executive and high quality family housing, focussing on Whitehaven and its fringes as a
priority.
The Application Site is located within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) in the
Copeland Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 Update (SHMA).
In terms of housing mix, the SHMA concludes that the analysis broadly suggests a need for
70% of market homes to have 3 or more bedrooms and 30% of market homes to have 1-2
bedrooms.
The proposed development comprises:


12 x 2 bed dwellings



43 x 3 bed dwellings

Page 30



44 x 4 bed dwellings

The proposed mix broadly accords with the provisions of the SHMA and Policy SS3 of the LP,
Whilst the provision of 12 affordable units (11% of the total housing proposed) falls below
the 15-25% quota set out in the Local Plan, the NPPF (July 2021) sets a minimum threshold
of 10% on sites that comprise major development. On this basis the provision of 12
affordable units is considered to be appropriate in this case as the site is difficult to develop
due to ground conditions, the potential for contamination and surface water drainage. The
affordable units are to be offered as a mix of shared ownership and rental.
The Council`s Strategic Housing Manager has indicated support for the proposals as it will
provide modern family homes close to the town centre.
Layout, Scale and Design
Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and section 12 of the NPPF seek to
secure high standards of design for new residential properties. These policies seek to create
and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity, and set out detailed requirements with
regard to standard of residential amenity, including the provision of parking spaces,
separation distances and open space.
The proposed layout and scale of the development is considered to be appropriate given the
constraints of the land in terms of its configuration, gradient and restraints relating to
drainage and highways requirements.
The dwellings are arranged around a circular estate road which enables the creation of
linear frontages. The use of the slope across the site allows for a variations in the scale and
heights of the units. This together with the use of a varied palette of external facing
materials will help to break up the frontage of the development and provide an attractive
and modern appearance which will enhance the locality.
The interface separation distances between existing and proposed dwellings required by
Policy DM12 of the Local Plan are achieved.
Given the scale, form and layout of the proposed development adverse impacts will not
result through loss of light, overbearing, overshadowing and overbearing effects as required
by Policy ST1 of the Local Plan.
Parking has been provided to the front of the dwellings with some soft landscaping
proposed at the edges and between the parking bays in order to help soften the visual
impact of the driveways.
It is also proposed to provide several areas of open and amenity space within the layout
which will help to soften the appearance of the overall residential development.
The submitted details are considered to be in accordance with Policies DM10, DM11 and
DM12 of the Local Plan.
Ecology and Arboriculture
Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan and section 15 of the NPPF outline
how the Council will protect and enhance the biodiversity and geodiversity within the

Page 31

Borough. These policies set out the approach towards managing development proposal that
are likely to have an effect on nature conservation sites, habitats and protected species.
A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of the planning
application. This outlines that no conclusive evidence was found of bats and red squirrel
being present on the site and that the vegetation that is to be cleared has a low ecological
significance. Furthermore, the trees within the development area are generally of low
quality.
A Tree Report was submitted to supplement the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. It
concludes that it is possible to retain any significant trees on site without additional damage
or stress to the trees and recommendations for each tree has been provided as part of the
report. It also confirms that the proposed development will not affect the mature trees
along the boundary of the cemetery which fall outside the red line boundary of the
Application Site.
Mitigation measures identified within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and also the
recommendations set out within the Tree Report can be secured by suitably worded
planning conditions to ensure that these measures are implemented prior to and during the
clearing of the site.
Landscaping
Policy DM26 of the LP requires that development proposals, where necessary, will be
required to include landscaping schemes that retain existing landscape features, reinforce
local landscape character and mitigate against any adverse visual impact. Care should be
taken that landscaping schemes do not include invasive non-native species. The Council will
require landscaping schemes to be maintained for a minimum of five years.
With regards to landscaping on the site as part of the development, the proposed hard and
soft landscaping appears to be acceptable in principle but does not include sufficient detail
to allow a full assessment. Conditions are proposed to secure a hard and soft landscaping
scheme prior to the commencement of works and also measures to ensure that the existing
trees which are to be retained are adequately protected and that net-gain can be provided
in accordance with the NPPF.
Access and Highway Safety
Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the
impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of
the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet
adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context.
It is proposed to achieve access to the site using an existing entrance off Low Road. This
access was deemed acceptable to serve 107 units in the previously approved scheme. This
scheme is for a reduced number of 99 units. The speed limit at Low Road is 30 mph and
visibility spays can be achieved which are far in excess of the requirements set out in the
Manual for Streets.

Page 32

The application is accompanied by an updated Transport Assessment. The layout of the
scheme has been amended to incorporate an increase in the width of the circular loop road
within the site and also the incorporation of some traffic calming measures as requested
previously by the Highways Authority. The number of units has also been reduced to 99 in
total to ensure compliance with the latest guidance relating to highways and drainage
requirements.
The site is located on the outskirts of Whitehaven with public transport links nearby and the
town is within walking distance so is considered sustainable. The Highway Authority has
requested a Travel Plan which would be required for the life of the development in order to
encourage a modal shift away from private car use. The document requires updating and
monitored which has administration cost implications for the County Council, therefore a
financial contribution is required from the Applicant. This cost should be included as part of
a S106 agreement and would be for a sum of £6600 to cover a 5 year period.
The Highway Authority has raised no objections to the development subject to planning
conditions.
Overall, it is considered that the details comply with Policies T1 and DM22 of the Copeland
Local Plan.
Flood Risk and Drainage;
Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are
at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the
risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.
The Application Site is located within Flood Zone 1. The proposed comprises a more
vulnerable use and is therefore a compatible use in Flood Zone 1.
There is historical evidence of surface water drainage issues within the area. The submitted
proposal involves the provision of attenuation tanks and a detention pond to limit the rate
of flow from the site. An existing culvert may also be used subject to an assessment of its
condition and capacity. The LLFA, the Environment Agency, United Utilities and the Councils
Drainage Officer have confirmed that they have no objections to the development of this
land subject to the use of planning conditions to secure an agreed foul and surface water
drainage scheme prior to the commencement of development.
Overall, it is considered that, subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal complies
with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan with regards to drainage.
Ground Conditions and Contamination
The NPPF under paragraph 183 requires sites to be suitable for their proposed use taking
into account ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability and
contamination, including any proposals for mitigation and remediation.
The site has been the subject of past mining activity and has also suffered from subsidence.
The former large workhouse building which occupied the site was previously demolished
due to subsidence.

Page 33

The Coal Authority has confirmed that there is a recorded mine present on the southern end
of the site. There is also the risk of mineshaft collapse and mine gas. A detailed Coal Mining
Risk Assessment report has been provided with the application which sets out a remediation
strategy. This includes a full site investigation including the drilling of boreholes and also the
backfilling and capping of the mineshaft. The submitted layout has been designed to ensure
that no dwellings are built on this area which is to be retained as open space.
The Coal Authority has confirmed that they are satisfied that the site is or can be made safe
and stable for the proposed development subject to a full investigation and detailed
remediation strategy, both of which can be secured by appropriately worded planning
conditions.
Given the brownfield nature of the site and its previous use there is also a risk of
contamination. The Environment Agency has confirmed that they have no objections to the
development subject to a full risk assessment and appropriate mitigation being carried out
prior to the commencement of development ion the site. These can be secured by
condition.
Planning Balance
For the reasons outlined above, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of
the NPPF is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important
for determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that
planning permission be granted unless:
i.

the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

The proposed site has previously benefitted from planning permission for residential
development and is situated within the settlement boundary for Whitehaven. The site is
located on the outskirts of Whitehaven with public transport links nearby and the town is
within walking distance so is considered sustainable.
This proposal would facilitate the reuse of a brownfield site and would significantly boost
the housing supply to meet the identified need for housing within Whitehaven and the
wider Borough. The proposed mix of housing accords with the mix detailed in Policy SS3
and the SHMA and would also provide 12 affordable units.
The scale, design and layout is considered to be acceptable and will provide an attractive
and modern appearance which will enhance the immediate locality.
Any harm identified is minor and subject to planning conditions unacceptable impacts will
not result in respect of ecology, access, parking, drainage and ground conditions.
In overall terms the benefits of the proposal would significantly outweigh any harm when
assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Page 34

Recommendation:Issue delegated authority to the Head of Planning and Place to approve Full Planning
Permission subject to the following:
- The planning conditions outlined at the end of this report, and
- The Applicant entering into a Section 106 planning obligation to secure 12 affordable
units, the management and maintenance of open space, the installation and
maintenance of an attenuation pond and any required Travel Plan Monitoring fee.
Standard Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Permission shall relate to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development shall be carried out in accordance with them: Site Location Plan, scale 1:1250, drawing number 3917 03, received 22nd December
2020;
Existing Site Plan, scale 1:500, drawing number 3917 01. received 22nd December
2020;
Proposed Site Layout, scale 1:1000, drawing number 1092 01A, received 22nd
December 2020;
House Type A, scale 1:100, drawing number 3917 04, received 22nd December 2020;
House Type B, scale 1:100, drawing number 3917 05, received 22nd December 2020;
House Type C, scale 1:100, drawing number 3917 06, received 22nd December 2020;
House Type D, scale 1:100, drawing number 3917 07, received 22nd December 2020;
House Type E, scale 1:100, drawing number 3917 08, received 22nd December 2020;
Street Elevations, scale 1:250, drawing number 3917 11A, received 22nd December
2020;
Planning Statement, written by Green Swallow North Limited, received 29th March
2020;
Design and Access Statement, written by Day Cummins, received 22nd December
2020;
Ecological Appraisal, written by Envirotech, received 22nd December 2020;
Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy, written by R.G. Parkins and Partners Ltd, received
22nd December 2020;
Proposed Surface Water Drainage Offsite Route, scale 1:1000, drawing number
K36110/A1/100C, received 22nd December 2020;
Proposed Outline Drainage Plan, scale 1:500, drawing number K36110/A1/101A,
received 22nd December 2020;

Page 35

Tree Report, written by Envirotech, received 22nd December 2020;
Transport Assessment, written by Tetra Tech, report no. B028073, received 15 th June
2021;
Coal Mining Risk Assessment, written by Meridian Geoscience, received 22nd
December 2020.
Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Pre-commencement
3.

The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycle ways etc must be designed, constructed,
drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details,
including longitudinal/cross sections, must be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority for approval before work commences on site. No work must be
commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details must be in
accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any
works so approved must be constructed before the development is complete.
Reason
To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway safety and
in accordance with Policies ST1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.

4.

Ramps shall be provided on each side of every junction to enable wheelchairs,
pushchairs etc. to be safely manoeuvred at kerb lines. Details of all such ramps must
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before development
commences. Any details so approved must be constructed as part of the
development.
Reason
To ensure that pedestrians and people with impaired mobility can negotiate road
junctions in relative safety and in accordance with Policies ST1 and DM22 of the
Copeland Local Plan.

5.

The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear visibility
of 60 metres in both directions measured 2.4metres down the centre of the access
road and the nearside channel line of the carriageway edge have been provided at
the junction of the access road with the county highway. Notwithstanding the
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to

Page 36

permitted development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected,
parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be
permitted to grown within the visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays. The
visibility splays shall be constructed before general development of the site
commences so that construction traffic is safeguarded.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies ST1 and DM22 of
the Copeland Local Plan.

6.

Full details of the highway surface water drainage system shall be submitted to the
Local Planning Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any
approved works shall be implemented prior to the development being completed
and shall be maintained operational thereafter.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and environmental management and in
accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.

7.

The existing boundary wall to the Low Road boundary, must be taken down and rebuilt in similar style providing a footway width of not less than 2.4m along the site
frontage. Any gates in the wall must open inwards. A full specification of the wall and
supporting structural calculations, must be submitted for approval before any works
commences. Alternative footway provision must be provided along Low Road during
the demolition and rebuilding works.
Reason
To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway safety and
in accordance with Policies ST1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.

8.

Development must not commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
CTMP must include details of:
˗

˗
˗
˗

Pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for
accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a Highway
Authority representative; with all post repairs carried out to the satisfaction of
the Local Highway Authority at the applicants expense;
Details of proposed crossings of the highway verge;
Retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for their
specific purpose during the development;
Cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway;

Page 37

˗
˗
˗
˗
˗
˗

Details of proposed wheel washing facilities;
The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or
deposit of any materials on the highway;
Construction vehicle routing to and from site;
The management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and other
public rights of way/footway;
Details of any proposed temporary access points (vehicular / pedestrian);
Surface water management details during the construction phase.

Reason
To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely impact upon the
fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the interests of highway and
pedestrian safety.

9.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme,
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice
Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions and must include
details of the following must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority:
1. Arrangements for adoption by appropriate public body, statutory undertaker, or
private management company; and
2. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the
surface water drainage scheme to secure its effective operation for the lifetime of
the development.
3. Proposals to repair to the culverted water course along the northern boundary of
the site which must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015)
or any subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the
public sewerage system either directly or indirectly. The drainage scheme submitted
for approval shall also be in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk
Assessment & Drainage Statement K36110/01/FRA/CA dated 25/11/2020 and plan
K36110/A1/101-A.
The development must be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with
the approved details.

Reason

Page 38

To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan.

10.

No development must commence until a construction surface water management
plan has been agreed in writing with the local planning authority.
Reason
To safeguard against flooding to surrounding sites and to safeguard against pollution
of surrounding watercourses and drainage systems and in accordance with Policies
ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.

11.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a condition and capacity survey of
the culverted watercourse (or piped drainage system) downstream of the surface
water discharge point in the B5345 below Jefferson Park at must be submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The information provided must also
include mitigation measures where it is deemed the improvements are required.
Reason
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution and in accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan.

12.

No development approved by this planning permission must commence until a
remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site
in respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the
following components:
1.

A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:

•
•
•
•

All previous uses
Potential contaminants associated with those uses
A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site

2.

A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected,
including those off-site.

3.

The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred
to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy

Page 39

giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to
be undertaken.
4.

A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order
to demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.

Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning
authority. The scheme must be implemented as approved.
Reasons
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
To prevent deterioration of a water quality element to a lower status class in the
Secondary B aquifer and the near surface water which sources the springs emanating
to the west of the site and in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

13.

No development must commence until a scheme of intrusive investigations has been
carried out on site to locate and establish the condition of recorded mine shaft
297516-023 and to establish the risks posed to the development by past shallow coal
mining activity. The intrusive site investigations must be carried out in accordance
with authoritative UK guidance.
Reason
In order to ensure that any historical mine workings have been considered and
mitigated and in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

14.

No development must commence until a detailed remediation scheme to protect the
development from the effects of coal mining legacy related land stability risks has
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for consideration and approved in
writing. The scheme must be informed by the results of intrusive site investigations
and must include details of the proposed treatment of recorded mine entry 297516023 and any treatment works required in respect of past shallow coal mining activity.
Following approval, the remedial works must be implemented on site in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason
In order to ensure that any historical mine workings have been considered and
mitigated and in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

Page 40

15.

No development hereby approved must commence until a scheme in accordance
with BS 5837: 2005 for the management of existing trees on the site and for their
protection during construction as well as for replacement tree planting, including
species and sizes with a proposed timetable for planting and a maintenance regime,
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development must be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason
To strengthen and improve the existing tree cover on the site and in accordance with
Policy DM28 of the Copeland Local Plan.

16.

No development hereby approved must commence until full details of both hard and
soft landscape works, including any trees or hedgerows which are to be retained
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved works must be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the
development or in accordance with a program of works as agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory form of landscaping in the interests of the visual appearance
and character of the area and in accordance with Policy DM28 of the Copeland Local
Plan.

Pre-occupation conditions
17.

No dwellings shall be occupied until the estate road including footways and to serve
such dwellings has been constructed in all respects to base course level and street
lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has been provided and brought
into full operational use.
Reason
In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with Policies ST1 and DM22 of
the Copeland Local Plan.

18.

No dwelling must be occupied until its access and parking facilities have been
constructed in accordance with the approved plans. These facilities shall be retained
capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or altered without
the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason

Page 41

To ensure a minimum standard of access provision when the development is
brought into use and in accordance with Policies ST1 and DM22 of the Copeland
Local Plan.

19.

Prior to occupation of the dwellings the developer must prepare and submit to the
Local Planning Authority for their approval a Travel Plan which must identify the
measures that will be undertaken by the developer to encourage the achievement of
a modal shift away from the use of private cars to visit the development to
sustainable transport modes. The measures identified in the Travel Plan must be
implemented by the developer within the 12 months following the reviews.
Reason
To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives and in accordance with
Policies ST1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.

20.

Following the implementation and completion of the approved remediation scheme
and prior to the first occupation of the development, a signed statement or
declaration prepared by a suitably competent person confirming that the site is, or
has been made, safe and stable for the approved development shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing.
Reason
In order to ensure that any historical mine workings have been considered and
mitigated and in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

21.

Before any of the superstructure is erected representative samples of the materials
to be used on the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and so maintained
thereafter.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development in the interests of visual
amenity and in accordance with Policy DM10 of the Copeland Local Plan.

22.

Full details of the proposed boundary treatments shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The boundary treatment to all
individual plots shall be installed in accordance with the approved details before that
unit is first occupied and shall be maintained thereafter.

Page 42

Reason
To ensure satisfactory boundary treatments in the interests of visual amenity and in
accordance with Policy DM26 of the Copeland Local Plan.

Other conditions
23.

An annual report reviewing the effectiveness of the Travel Plan and including any
necessary amendments or measures must be prepared by the developer/occupier
and submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.
Reason
To aid in the delivery of sustainable transport objectives and in accordance with
Policies ST1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.

24.

The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and
Drainage Strategy, ref: K36110/01/FRA/CA dated 25/11/2020 proposing surface
water discharging into watercourse via existing highway drain and new surface water
sewer. No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the
public sewer. Any variation to the discharge of foul shall be agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. The
development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in
surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding and in accordance with
Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.

25.

Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems.
Reason
To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution and in
accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.

26.

The development shall implement all of the mitigation and compensation measures
set out in the Ecological Appraisal, prepared by Envirotech, dated 19 September
2014, and submitted as part of the planning application.

Reason

Page 43

To protect the ecological interests evident on the site and secure enhancements to
the biodiversity and landscape within the locality and in accordance with Policies
ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan.

27.

Any trees or other plants, which die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased within the first five years following planting shall be replaced during the
next planting season with others of similar size or species unless other agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure that an acceptable form of landscaping is maintained on the site in the
interests of the visual appearance and amenity of the area and in accordance with
policies DM26 and DM28 of the Copeland Local Plan.

Informatives
1)

The proposed development lies within an area that has been defined by the Coal
Authority as containing potential hazards arising from former coal mining activity.
These hazards can include: mine entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings;
geological features (fissures and break lines); mine gas and previous surface mining
sites. Although such hazards are seldom readily visible, they can often be present and
problems can occur in the future, particularly as a result of development taking place.
It is recommended that information outlining how the former mining activities affect
the proposed development, along with any mitigation measures required (for example
the need for gas protection measures within the foundations), be submitted alongside
any subsequent application for Building Regulations approval (if relevant). Any form
of development over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry can be
dangerous and raises significant safety and engineering risks and exposes all parties
to potential financial liabilities. As a general precautionary principle, the Coal
Authority considers that the building over or within the influencing distance of a mine
entry should wherever possible be avoided. In exceptional circumstance where this is
unavoidable, expert advice must be sought to ensure that a suitable engineering
design is developed and agreed with regulatory bodies which takes into account of all
the relevant safety and environmental risk factors, including gas and mine-water.
Your attention is drawn to the Coal Authority Policy in relation to new development
and mine entries available at:
<https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-theinfluencing-distance-of-mine-entries>
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, coal mine workings or
coal mine entries (shafts and adits) requires a Coal Authority Permit. Such activities
could include site investigation boreholes, digging of foundations, piling activities,
other ground works and any subsequent treatment of coal mine workings and coal

Page 44

mine entries for ground stability purposes. Failure to obtain a Coal Authority Permit
for such activities is trespass, with the potential for court action.
Property specific summary information on past, current and future coal mining
activity can be obtained from: www.groundstability.com or a similar service
provider.
If any of the coal mining features are unexpectedly encountered during
development, this should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345
762 6848. Further information is available on the Coal Authority website at:
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority
2)

Prior to any work commencing on the watercourse the applicant should contact the
Lead Local Flood Authority on tel: 01228 221331 or email:
LFRM.consent@cumbria.gov.uk to confirm if an Ordinary Watercourse Flood
Defence Consent is required. If it is confirmed that consent is required it should be
noted that a fee of £50 will be required and that it can take up to two months to
determine.

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning
policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4b

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Management Section

Date of Meeting: 24/11/2021

Application Number:

4/21/2339/0F1

Application Type:

Full : CBC

Applicant:

Home Group

Application Address:

JEFFERSON PARK, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

CONSTRUCTION OF 14 DWELLINGS FOR
AFFORDABLE RENT AND ASSOCIATED
INFRASTRUCTURE, PARKING AND LANDSCAPING

Parish:

Whitehaven

Recommendation Summary:

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Page 47

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the
Planning and Place Manager considers it to be of sufficient importance in planning terms to
refer to the Planning Panel for determination.

Site and Location
This application relates to land at Jefferson Park.
Outline planning permission was originally granted for the redevelopment of the site for
residential use in 1998 (application reference 4/98/0311/0 relates). A subsequent

Page 48

application for the erection of 48 dwellings was approved in 2007 (application reference
4/06/2681/0 relates). Phase one of the development comprising 24 units has been
complete.
The Application Site covers an area of 0.32 hectares and includes land to the west of Rose
Cottage and the undeveloped areas on the site between the existing estate road and the 24
dwellings that were erected under phase one.
Jefferson Park is accessed directly from Low Road and is adjoined by the cemetery to the
south and open fields to the north and west.

Proposal
This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 14 dwellings on the site
for affordable rent, including the associated infrastructure, parking and landscaping. It
would effectively complete the development that was granted planning permission in 2007.
The main group of dwellings proposed are to be arranged in the form of two terraced blocks
in the centre of the site. Three pairs of semi-detached units will also occupy the space on
the north eastern edge of the site. Each dwelling will comprise an open plan kitchen/diner,
WC and living room on the ground floor and two bedrooms and a bathroom on the first
floor.
Externally the dwellings will be faced with a combination of clay facing brick, K-rend with
feature brick detailing between the windows and a dark grey cedral cladding. The roofs will
be covered with anthracite coloured tiles and the windows and doors will be anthracite
UPVC.
Access will remain as existing, with a total of 21 residents car parking spaces and 3 visitor
bays proposed to serve the development.
The application has been accompanied by the following documents:















Site Location Plan;
Block Plan;
Site Plan;
Floor Plans and Elevations;
Materials and Boundary plan;
Site Sections;
House Types;
External Materials Schedule;
Topographical Information;
Phase 1 and II Geo-Environmental Site Investigation;
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal;
Coal Mining Risk Assessment;
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Phase 2;
Operation and Maintenance Plan for Sustainable Drainage Systems Phase 2;

Page 49







Affordable Housing Statement;
Transport Statement;
Pre-development Arboricultural Report;
Reptile survey;
Design and Access Statement.

Consultation Responses
Whitehaven Town Council
No objections.
Cumbria Highways Department
First Response
Application 4/06/2681 was approved for 48no. dwellings where access arrangement,
drainage, parking and turning were agreed. Since the approval of this application 24 of the
48 houses have been built and the additional 14 proposed here will not mean an expansion
of the previously approved residential development site.
The access and parking arrangements have been constructed since the application in 2006
and we recommend that the developer contacts the Local Highway Authority to discuss
formal adoption of the site.
It has been noted that the proposed parking for the level of development is slightly below
our usual requirements but, as stated within the Transport Statement, we appreciate that
there is regular and accessible means of public transport that provide travel to and from the
site. The LHA have no concerns with the proposed level of off-street parking.
We have two minor concerns regarding the arrangement of the parking however. Outside
Plots 4 & 5 the parking forecourt appears to be 5m wide where this should be altered to
allow a 6m forecourt. This will enable vehicles to manoeuvre in and out of the spaces.
The second concern that we have is the position of space 14 shown on Drawing Number
205. We feel that this is too close to the bend in the road leading to the junction and believe
that visibility here will be compromised. We recommend that this space is moved so that is
further away from this bend to ensure safe accessibility.
The LHA are not yet in a position where we could make a recommendation of no objections
to this application. We would be better placed to do this upon receipt of further
information as noted:



Revises the forecourt for parking outside of Plots 4 & 5;
Revises the parking arrangement for Plots 13 & 14 to relocated bay '14' away from
the bend in the road to aid visibility and ensure safety.

Second Response

Page 50

It is understood that no further information has been provided address the Highway aspects
of this application. The Local Highway Authority comments on 19/08/21 should still be
applied.
Third Response
Application 4/06/2681 was approved for 48no. Dwellings where access arrangement,
drainage, parking and turning were agreed. Since the approval of this application 24 of the
48 houses have been built and the additional 14 proposed here will not mean an expansion
of the previously approved residential development site.
The access and parking arrangements have been constructed since the application in 2006
and we recommend that the developer contacts the Local Highway Authority to discuss
formal adoption of the site. It has been noted that the proposed parking for the level of
development is slightly below our usual requirements but, as stated within the Transport
Statement, we appreciate that there is regular and accessible means of public transport that
provide travel to and from the site. The LHA have no concerns with the proposed level of
off-street parking.
Our previous response on 19/08/2021 raised concerns regarding the forecourt for vehicles
being able to manoeuvre in and out of the parking spaces provided for plots 4 & 5 and
visibility of the access junction from bay 14. Drawing number 202 has since been submitted
addressing these concerns and is now considered acceptable to the LHA.
Local Lead Flood Authority
First Response
It has been noted that the application form and the drainage plan contradict one another.
The application form states that surface water will be discharged to the main sewerage
system and the drainage plan (Drawing No. 100) demonstrates that underground
attenuation tanks will be installed and they will then feed into the existing culverted
watercourse. The LLFA would request that a detailed drainage strategy is submitted that
clarifies the proposed means of surface water drainage. If the developer is proposing a
continuation of the drainage strategy that was approved under the 2006 application then
we would request that full details of that are submitted.
Before connecting the surface water to the culverted watercourse, the LLFA would like to
ensure that there will not be an increased flood risk elsewhere as a result of this should any
damage be caused or the culvert does not have the capacity to support this. We would
therefore strongly suggest that the culvert is fully inspected and surveyed along with CCTV
surveys before and after development to ensure that the culvert can account for this
increased use.
The LLFA are not yet in a position where we could make a recommendation of no objections
to this application. We recommend that the developer submits a full drainage strategy.
Second Response

Page 51

It is noted from Page 10 of the FRA that there is a section of pipework that is damaged in
the existing carriageway. The applicant’s drainage engineers have suggested that this is
repaired during the construction works of the development whilst also repairing the land
drain from the cemetery. The LLFA note that there is a trash-screen for a culvert that is
routed through the site. The maintenance of the trash-screen will fall to the developer and
should be listed on the maintenance schedule. It is understood that this could fall under
‘Remedial Actions’ which is currently listed on the maintenance schedule but we feel the
maintenance of the trash-screens needs to be specifically listed to avoid doubt.
The engineers have stated that repairs to the damaged pipes can be carried out during
construction. I therefore recommend that the condition below is included with any
permission you might grant.
1. Prior to the commencement of any development, a condition and capacity survey of the
culverted watercourse (or piped drainage system) downstream of the surface water
discharge point shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority. The information provided
should also include mitigation measures where it is deemed the improvements are required.
Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies within the NPPF
and NPPG.
Third Response
It is noted from Page 10 of the FRA that there is a section of pipework that is damaged in
the existing carriageway. The applicant’s drainage engineers have suggested that this is
repaired during the construction works of the development whilst also repairing the land
drain from the cemetery. The details submitted on Operation & Maintenance Plan for
Sustainable Drainage Systems Revision A are now acceptable to the LLFA.
The engineers have stated that repairs to the damaged pipes can be carried out during
construction. I therefore recommend that a condition to provide this is included with any
permission you might grant.
There have been no means of water treatment proposed before it connects to the existing
system. The LLFA would be minded to suggest that permeable paving is used on the
driveways for the properties as it would treat the water before it enters the pipe and also
act as attenuation.

United Utilities
First Response

Page 52

No objections subject to conditions relating to the provision of a full surface water drainage
plan, foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems and the management of the
drainage scheme.
Second Response
Following our review of the submitted drawing of Indicative Drainage Layout and Level
Information, ref: K38379-100 dated 02/07/2021, proposing surface water discharging into
watercourse, we can confirm the proposals are acceptable in principle to United Utilities.
However, we do not have sufficient information on the detail of the drainage design. With
this in mind, we request a condition to provide a full surface water drainage scheme prior to
the commencement of development.
Third Response
Following our review of the submitted Drainage Strategy, we can confirm the proposals are
acceptable in principle to United Utilities and therefore should planning permission be
granted we request the following condition is attached to any subsequent Decision Notice:
Condition 1 – Foul and surface water
The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance with
principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage Design Drawing K38379 100, Rev 0 - Dated 02.07.2021 which was prepared by RGPARKNS. For the avoidance of
doubt and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No surface
water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public sewer. The
development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in surface
water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding
Environment Agency
No objections subject to a condition requiring the submission of a remediation strategy to
deal with the risks of contamination.
Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer
First Response
In common with many applications the submissions contradict each other.
The application states that surface water will be disposed of to the main sewer, yet the
Indicative Drainage Layout shows that it will be discharge via attenuation tanks into the
culverted watercourse that runs through Jefferson Park.
Given that the geotechnical report states that soakaway drainage will be highly unlikely, this
would be the most appropriate means of surface water disposal, although there are
concerns that offsite the culvert has not been fully surveyed to ascertain its condition.

Page 53

Indications are that the surface water drainage is to remain private, and if so, confirmation
of the long term maintainer (presumably Home Group) is needed.
It would appear that a Drainage Strategy Report has been completed to determine the size
of the attenuation tanks and the restricted flow rates from the tank, but one has not been
submitted.
Is it possible to ask about a Drainage Strategy Report?
Agent Response
To answer the more specific points mentioned in the email, I can confirm that drainage via.
infiltration (soakaways) is not a viable option for this site due to the existing ground
conditions and it was intended that surface water runoff from the proposed new
development areas would be positively drained and attenuated, with controlled discharge
to the existing culverted watercourse running through Jefferson Park. It was also assumed
that the proposed surface water drainage system would remain private in line with the
existing site drainage. Home Group will take on responsibility for maintaining this.
Second Response







Flood mapping shows the site in Flood Zone 1 and the properties are considered as
being at a low risk of surface water flooding, with a low probability of the road
suffering surface water flooding.
However, the flood risk from blocking of the trash screen on the culvert upstream of
the culvert is unlikely to have been mapped, so there is possibly a higher risk than
mapped. This is really a maintenance issue for the riparian owner, which is probably
Home Group, to ensure that the trash screen is regularly cleared of debris.
The drainage hierarchy has been followed, with infiltration being discounted and
therefore the next best option of discharge to watercourse is proposed. This is via
the culverted section that runs through the site.
The surface water design is based on a 1 in 100 year event with a 40% climate
change allowance and an urban creep allowance and the system uses geocellular
storage.
The surface water system is to remain private and maintained by Home Group and a
maintenance plan has been submitted.

Based on the information provided, I have no objection to the proposed development.
The Coal Authority
No objections subject to conditions relating to site investigations and a declaration that the
site has been made safe.

Environmental Health
Based on the information submitted with the above application, Environmental Health
support in principle the application and have no objections. The Coal Authority consultation

Page 54

response details conditions and has provided an informative on the regulatory
requirements.
However with the note of potential for disruption and concerns raised by the Coal Authority
we therefore request the following conditions:












Demonstrate to the local planning authority the current gas regime on site and
follow Ciria 665, undertaking monitoring for a minimum of 3 months with at least 1
measurement below 1000 millibars
Provide a full and detailed specification for the consolidation of abandoned mine
workings to the local planning authority
All external lighting shall meet the guidelines and obtrusive limits details in the
institute of lighting professionals Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive light
(GN01:2011)
All HGV deliveries to the site shall be carried out solely between the hours of 09:00
and 17:00 Monday to Friday. There shall be no HGV deliveries on Saturdays, Sundays
and Bank Holidays
No idling or waiting by deliveries to prevent noise nuisance
Conditions for operating hours for construction from Environmental Health are 08:00
– 18:00 Monday – Friday, 08:00 -13:00 Saturdays and no operation on Saturday or
Bank Holidays.
The Construction management plan must cover dust emissions, noise and vibration
and identify remedial action to prevent nuisance from dust, noise and vibration
A contact telephone number must be provided for members of the public to report
any concerns/complaints

Natural England
No comments to make.
Footpaths Officer - Cumbria County Council Rights of Way
A PROW (public footpath/bridleway/byway) number 43101 lies adjacent to the site, the
Applicant must ensure that no obstruction to the footpath occurs during, or after the
completion of the site works.
Council Consultant Arborist (Capita)
A Pre-development Arboricultural Report, which includes an arboricultural impact
assessment of the scheme has been provided as part of the submission documents for the
proposed development.
The report highlights a number of trees on site which will have to be removed to implement
the proposal. These trees have been identified as being of low quality and their removal can
be mitigated by suitable replacement planting.
There will be some impact on the retained trees from the development and this needs to be
minimised. This can be achieved by means of a robustly worded arboricultural method

Page 55

statement which can be secured by way of a condition attached to the decision notice,
should the proposal be acceptable.
The proposed hard landscaping is shown on the Boundary and Materials Plan and is
acceptable. Some indications of the proposed soft landscaping are set out in the Design and
Access Statement and in the Boundary and Materials Plan but is not detailed. A suitable high
quality soft landscaping scheme that mitigates the loss of the trees and provides net-gain in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework can be secured by condition.
Conditions requiring a detailed soft landscaping scheme, and a robustly worded
arboricultural method statement must be attached to the decision letter should the
application prove acceptable. Both the landscaping scheme and method statement must be
agreed in writhing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of development
on site.
Copeland Strategic Housing Manager
This is an application from Home Group, the largest social housing provider in Copeland, to
develop 14 x 2-bedroom dwellings on an existing site in Whitehaven where 24 homes have
already been completed (in 2012).
The original application intended for the remainder of the dwellings to be flats, but
permission is now sought for these to be replaced by 2-bedroom dwellings, based on the
view that there is limited demand for further flats.
A significant amount of the social housing stock owned by Home Group is 3 bedroomed and
no longer suitable due to benefit restrictions and lack of demand, so we support the
development of 2-bedroomed dwellings on this site. The current SHMA indicates a need for
more 2-bedroomed dwellings, and this is supported by the applicants’ own data.
There is considerable need for additional affordable housing across the borough, from
existing and newly forming households, and this will bring modern, family housing to a
popular area of Whitehaven, where similar housing has already been established.
Our Housing Strategy (2018-2023) prioritises provision of sufficient affordable housing,
through working with registered provider partners to regenerate and reconfigure the social
housing mix, and this is a key development helping to address the over-supply of 3 bed
properties and under supply of smaller homes.
The location of these dwellings will be popular, due to the proximity of Whitehaven Town
Centre as well as local amenities and the design is intended to support safe, inclusive
communities which is also a key part of our Housing Strategy.
We do know that there is a need for 1-bedroom flats in the Whitehaven area but some of
the demand will be met by the development by Home Group in the town centre due to
come online later this year and so we would support the change to 2 bed dwellings within
this application.
We are supportive of this application.

Page 56

Public Representation
The application has been advertised by way of a site notice and neighbour notification
letters issued to 36 no. properties.
5 local residents raised concerns with the development including the following:










Ecology will be destroyed;
The housing need is not addressed by the application;
Original application included bungalows, but none are proposed by this application;
The green where children play will be lost;
The roads are not wide enough for the existing traffic and concerns that construction
traffic will make access difficult;
Drainage effect on existing properties as the estate has issues with flooding;
Loss of privacy/overlooking concerns;
Loss of light;
Noise from the construction and effects on existing occupants.

Planning Policies
Planning law requires applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer
Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth
Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability
Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport
Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management
Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards
Policy DM12 – Standards for New Residential Development
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments

Page 57

Policy DM24 – Development Proposals and Flood Risk
Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species
Policy DM26 – Landscaping
Policy DM28 – Protection of Trees
Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP):
Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements
HSG2 – New Housing Allocations
Proposals Map including settlement boundaries.
Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy 2021 (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
National Design Guide (NDG)
Manual for Streets
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR).
Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDDG).
Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 (SHMA)
Copeland Housing Strategy 2019
Copeland Borough-Wide Housing Needs Survey 2020
Emerging Copeland Local Plan
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 was recently the subject of a Preferred
Options Consultation. The Preferred Options Consultation builds upon the completed Issues
and Options Consultation which finished in January 2020. Given the stage of preparation,
the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has only limited weight in decision making,
but provides an indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which
themselves have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Assessment
The main issues raised by this application are the principle of development, housing need,
layout, scale and design, ecology, trees, highway safety, drainage and ground conditions.
These are considered below.
Principle of the development
Policies ST1 and ST2 along with Policies SS1, SS2, and SS3 of the Copeland Local Plan 20132028 seek to promote sustainable development to meet the need and aspirations of the
Borough’s housing market. These policies further concentrate development within the

Page 58

defined settlement boundaries in accordance with the Borough’s settlement hierarchy. The
NPPF also seeks to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply
of housing through sustainable development.
This site has already had the benefit of planning permission in the past which has
established the principle of developing the land for residential purposes. The site lies within
the settlement boundary for Whitehaven, the Principal town within the Borough. Its
development for housing is consistent with the strategic development principles set out in
Policies ST1 and ST2 of the LP.
Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of
sustainable development to developments relating to the provision of housing where there
are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the local planning
authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the
appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 74); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates
that the delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing
requirement over the previous three years.
In November 2020, the Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land
Supply Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites
against the emerging housing requirement and a 55 year supply against the Government’s
standard methodology figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent
Housing Delivery Test.
Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the CS and LP must be considered out of date.
Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in
December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the Core Strategy.
The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base of documents which includes a
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The SHMA calculates the housing need in
Copeland over the plan period of 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum.
The ECLP confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will
be required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.
Policy ST2 also does not accord with the NPPF which requires local planning authorities to
significantly boost housing delivery.
In the context of the above, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged and the policies of the
Development Plan which are most important for determining the application are to be
considered out of date and it required that planning permission be granted unless:
i. the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.
In applying the provisions of Paragraph 11:

Page 59

-

the Application Site comprises a parcel of land that is within the settlement
boundary of Whitehaven in a location that is considered a sustainable location for
new residential development;

-

the proposed development would assist in significantly boosting housing supply to
meet the identified need for affordable housing within Whitehaven and the wider
Borough as detailed in Policy ST2 of the CS;

-

the proposed development comprising the erection of 14 dwellings would complete
the existing development at Jefferson Park and is appropriate in size and character
to the Principal Centre of Whitehaven in accordance with the spatial objectives of
Policy ST2 and ST2 of the CS;

-

the Site is located in close and convenient proximity to the wide range of services
and employment opportunities located within Whitehaven, many of which are
located within walking distance of the Application Site.

-

Sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity of the site

Housing Need and Housing Mix
Policy SS3 of the LP states that applications for housing development should demonstrate
how the proposals help to deliver a range of good quality and affordable homes for
everyone. It is confirmed that development proposals will be assessed according to how
well they meet the identified need and aspirations of the Borough’s individual Housing
Market Areas as set out in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment including: creating a
more balanced mix of housing types and tenures within the housing market area; including
a proportion of affordable housing that makes the maximum contribution to meeting the
identified needs in the housing market areas; and, establishing a supply of sites suitable for
executive and high quality family housing, focussing on Whitehaven and its fringes as a
priority.
The Application Site is located within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) in the
Copeland Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 Update (SHMA).
The submitted Affordable Housing Statement details that the scheme is 100% affordable
and will provide 14 affordable rented dwellings. The scheme will be supplied by a registered
social landlord and partly funded by Homes England. On this basis there is not requirement
for a Section 106 agreement to bring the affordable homes forward.
The Applicant, Home Group, have stated that they are experiencing a demand for 2
bedroomed properties within Whitehaven and that the majority of their existing stock is 3
bedroomed houses. It is anticipated that the provision of 2 bedroomed properties will allow
smaller families and those looking for their first tenancy to manage a home in a stable
community.
The Council’s Strategic Housing Team strongly support the application. The current SHMA
indicates a need for more 2-bedroomed dwellings and for additional affordable housing
Borough wide. The Housing Strategy (2013 – 2028) prioritises the provision of sufficient
affordable housing and seeks to reconfigure the social housing mix, addressing the oversupply of 3 bedroomed properties.

Page 60

On this basis the proposal for 2 bedroomed affordable rental properties is welcomed and is
in accordance with Policies SS1, SS2 and SS3 of the Local Plan. The applicant is a registered
social landlord and the scheme will benefit from funding support by Homes England which
will secure the delivery of this scheme.
Layout, Scale and Design
Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and section 12 of the NPPF seek to
secure high standards of design for new residential properties. These policies seek to create
and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity, and set out detailed requirements with
regard to standard of residential amenity, including the provision of parking spaces,
separation distances and open space.
The layout and scale of the development is considered to be appropriate given the
constraints of the land in terms of its configuration, gradient and the relationship to the
existing dwellings and access road. Each dwelling includes a satisfactory rear amenity space
which can be used for bin storage.
All facing elevations comply with the minimum separation distances expected to maintain
privacy and ensure there is no overlooking.
Attempts have been made to break up the massing of the development by the use of 3 pairs
of semi-detached properties, and two terraced blocks. Plots 13 and 14 have been orientated
to face the road on the approach into Jefferson Park in order to create an attractive and
welcoming entrance into the estate. The orientation of plots 4-8 will also form a strong
frontage and help to define an area of open space which will help to soften the
development.
Parking has been provided to the front of plots 9-14, with the remaining parking arranged in
a parking court to serve the other properties. This will ensure that the development is not
dominated by parked vehicles. Soft landscaping has been proposed on the edges and
between the parking bays in order to help screen and soften the hard surfacing.
The use of a varied palette of external facing materials will help to break up the frontage of
the development and provide an attractive and modern appearance which will enhance the
existing housing estate.
Concerns have been raised from local residents with respect to the loss of the current open
space that is located within the centre of the site as it provides an area for children to play
on. This land was approved for housing in previously approved scheme and has not been
designated as a formal play space for children, therefore any informal use cannot be
guaranteed for local residents.

The submitted details are considered to be in accordance with Policies DM10, DM11 and
DM12 of the Local Plan relating to layout scale and design.
Ecology

Page 61

Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan and section 15 of the NPPF outline
how the Council will protect and enhance the biodiversity and geodiversity within the
Borough. These policies set out the approach towards managing development proposals
that are likely to have an effect on nature conservation sites, habitats and protected
species.
The Application was originally submitted without any information relating to the existing
ecology on the site and objections were received from local residents raising concerns with
regards to this. As a result, a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Reptile Survey was
requested and supplied by the Applicant.
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal concluded that there were no internationally,
domestically or locally designated sites that were within a proximity that would impact upon
the proposed development. With regards to specific species, the report concludes as
follows:















The risk of bat roosts occurring within the works area is ‘nil’. The site itself is unlikely
to be of significance to foraging or commuting bats in the wider area. There is some
limited potential for bats using the woodland edge habitat to the north and west for
foraging and commuting but considering the site in the context of its current usage
and its surroundings, the risk of disturbing individual bats is therefore considered to
be ‘negligible’.
The risk of great crested newts occurring on site is considered to be ‘nil’ and
consequently the risk of great crested newts being affected by the proposed works is
also considered to be ‘nil’.
The risk of otter being affected by the proposed works is considered to be ‘nil’.
The risk of badger being affected by the proposed works is considered to be ‘nil’.
Portions of the site offer suitable reptile habitat which may be occupied by common
reptiles (common lizards and / or slow worms). If common reptiles do occur on site,
they would certainly be affected by the proposed works. The risk of harm to
common reptiles is currently unknown - further survey effort is recommended to
confirm presence / likely absence of reptiles.
The risk of breeding birds being affected by the proposed works is considered to be
‘low’. No further survey effort is deemed to be necessary, but mitigation measures
should be observed to remove the risk of breeding birds being affected during site
clearance.
The risk of red squirrels being affected by the proposed works is considered to be
‘negligible’ and no further survey effort is recommended, however, in recognition of
the fact that red squirrels do occur in the vicinity, measures should be observed to
remove the risk to red squirrels during site clearance.
‘Other mammals’, including burrow dwelling species may occur on site. There is a
risk that ‘other mammals’ will be affected by the proposed works.
The risk of invasive non-native species currently growing on site being spread within
or beyond the site boundary is currently considered to be ‘high’. Any disturbance of
rhizomes is likely to result in the plant being spread either within the site boundary
or beyond the site boundary if contaminated material is transported from the site.

Page 62

The generic risk of invasive non-native species being introduced to the site and then
spread within or beyond the site boundary is considered to be ‘low’.
As a result of these findings, the following mitigation is recommended:



















Vegetation clearance should occur outside of the bird nesting season (March August).
If any vegetation clearance must occur during the bird breeding season, a breeding
bird survey must be conducted immediately prior to vegetation clearance
commencing. Should evidence of active nest sites (or dependant young) be
identified, no work will be possible until the nest can be confirmed as no longer
active or the young have fledged and / or moved out of the works area. This should
be conducted by a suitably experienced ecologist.
A checking survey must be conducted immediately prior to vegetation clearance
commencing. Should evidence of red squirrel dens / dreys be identified, no work will
be possible until the den / drey can be confirmed as no longer active. This should be
conducted by a suitably experienced ecologist.
All plant operatives will be vigilant for mammal burrows. If burrows are discovered,
no plant will operate within 5m of any burrow entrance until an experienced
ecologist can confirm if the burrow is active. If burrows are found to be active,
measures will be taken to exclude mammals before works in the area may proceed.
The identified stand of Japanese knotweed on the western boundary should be
subject to herbicidal treatment designed to eradicate this species from within 10m
of the site boundary. This should commence as soon as possible and continue until
no new above ground re-growth is obsessed over a 2 year period.
Until the identified stand of Japanese knotweed has been completely eradicated
(and no new re-growth observed for 2 years), there should be no excavation within
10m of the extant above ground growth.
All plant and equipment (including boots and hand tools) will be washed to remove
any mud or debris, allowed to dry and remain dry for a period of 48hrs prior to being
delivered to site.
All loose aggregates delivered to site must be clean and free from contamination
with seeds or vegetative material from invasive non-native species and certified as
such by the supplier.
All top soil delivered to site must be clean and free from contamination with seeds
or vegetative material from invasive non-native species and certified as such by the
supplier. Imported top-soil should conform to Section N.6.4.5 of BS 3882:1994; The
British Standard for Topsoil.
All plant and equipment (including boots and hand tools) will be thoroughly washed
to remove any mud or debris prior to being removed from the site.

Furthermore, a reptile study was undertaken due to the potential for their presence onsite
and the possible direct harm created by the development. Based on the results of seven
repeat survey visits conducted during the optimal reptile survey period and in optimal
weather conditions, it was concluded that reptiles are likely to be absent from the site and

Page 63

there are therefore no predicted impacts to common reptiles during the development nor
operational phases.
Due to the number of mitigation measures advised in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, it
is considered reasonable to impose a suitably worded planning condition on any approval to
ensure that these measures are implemented prior to the clearing of the site. Subject to this
condition the proposals are considered to accord with Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the
Copeland Local Plan
Landscaping and Trees
Policy DM26 of the LP requires that development proposals, where necessary, will be
required to include landscaping schemes that retain existing landscape features, reinforce
local landscape character and mitigate against any adverse visual impact. Care should be
taken that landscaping schemes do not include invasive non-native species. The Council will
require landscaping schemes to be maintained for a minimum of five years.
The submitted pre-development Arboricultural Report highlights a number of trees on site
which will have to be removed. These trees have been identified as being of low quality and
their removal can be mitigated by suitable replacement planting. There will be some impact
on the retained trees which can be minimized by the developer following the guidance
contained in BS 5837 (2012).
The areas identified for proposed hard and soft landscaping appear to be acceptable in
principle but insufficient detail has been provided to allow a full assessment. The Council`s
consultant Arborist (Capita) has recommended that an Arboricultural Method Statement
and a soft landscaping scheme should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to
the commencement of works in order to ensure that the trees which are to be retained are
adequately protected, that the loss of trees is mitigated by replacement planting and netgain can be provided in accordance with the NPPF. These can be secured by appropriately
worded planning conditions.
Provided that the conditioned information is supplied and approved and all mitigation
measures implemented, it is considered that the proposal will comply with Policies ENV3,
DM25, DM26 and DM28 of the Copeland Local Plan.
Access, Parking and Highway Safety
Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the
impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of
the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet
adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context.
The development proposes a total of 21 resident parking spaces and 3 visitor bays, totally
24 spaces. The spaces are easily accessible from Jefferson Park and there is sufficient space
for entering, turning and exiting in a forward gear. This provision of parking is considered to
be acceptable as the site is located on the outskirts of Whitehaven with public transport
links nearby and the town is within walking distance.

Page 64

The Highway Authority raised concerns with the width of the car parking court and
requested that it be amended to ensure that the parking bays are 6m in length and that the
parking for plot 14 is relocated away from the bend on the entrance to Jefferson Park.
These revisions were undertaken and the Highway Authority has confirmed that it has no
further objections.
Concerns were raised by local residents that the existing access roads are not wide enough
to serve the existing dwellings and that the situation will be worsened by the new
development proposed. The road network was built in 2012 as part of the previous
planning approval to an adoptable standard. The Highways Authority has suggested that
the Applicant contact them in order to have the roads formally adopted. On this basis, it is
considered that the roads are of a standard sufficient to serve a total of 38 dwellings on the
site as proposed.
Public right of way number 431061 runs to the north of the site but will be unaffected by
the proposal. An informative is proposed as part of any approval to ensure that it is not
obstructed during or after the development.
Overall, it is considered that the details comply with Policies T1 and DM22 of the Copeland
Local Plan and will provide an accessible development with an acceptable parking provision.
Drainage and Flood Risk
Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are
at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the
risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the
Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.
The Application Site is located within Flood Zone 1. The proposed comprises a more
vulnerable use and is therefore a compatible use in Flood Zone 1.
A Flood Risk and Drainage Assessment was submitted during the application process, which
concludes that the site is unsuitable for infiltration, therefore attenuation and drainage
through the existing culverted watercourse is the most appropriate form of drainage
proposal. Whilst the Local Lead Flood Authority have requested that the culvert be
surveyed for suitability for this drainage proposal this has not been possible during the
application process. It is therefore considered that a suitably worded planning condition is
imposed on any approval to ensure that these investigations are undertaken.
The system will be maintained by Home Group for the lifetime of the development in
accordance with the submitted maintenance and management plan.
Foul water is to be drained on a separate system.
Overall, it is considered that, subject to the proposed planning conditions requiring the
provision of the outstanding information, a suitable drainage scheme is achievable which
would ensure compliance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.
Ground Conditions

Page 65

The NPPF under paragraph 183 requires sites to be suitable for their proposed use taking
into account ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability and
contamination, including any proposals for mitigation and remediation.
The proposed site lies on a development referral area for historic mining operations and
therefore a Geo-Environmental Site Investigation report was submitted as part of the
planning application. This report concludes that compressible ground and subsidence
hazards have been identified associated with historical shallow mine workings in the locality
for which there are no records of stabilization. In response to this report the Coal Authority
have requested planning conditions to ensure that the developer provides further intrusive
site investigations, any required remedial works and a signed statement to confirm the
stability of the site, prior to any occupation of the dwellings.
The Council’s GIS system identifies the site as an area of potentially contaminated land. The
Site Investigation Report submitted confirms that asbestos was encountered in a number of
Made Ground samples and that further investigations would be required to determine the
concentrations and remedial strategy required. No risk to controlled water or from ground
gas was discovered. On this basis the Environment Agency have requested a suitably
worded planning condition to ensure that this risk is investigated and dealt with prior to the
commencement of the development.
Subject to planning conditions the proposal will comply with Policy ST1 of the Copeland
Local Plan and paragraphs 183 and 184 of the NPPF.
Planning Balance
For the reasons outlined above, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of
the NPPF is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important
for determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that
planning permission be granted unless:
i.

the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii.

any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

The proposed site has previously benefitted from planning permission for residential
development and is situated within the settlement boundary for Whitehaven. The site is
located on the outskirts of Whitehaven with public transport links nearby and the town is
within walking distance so is considered sustainable.
This proposal would significantly boost the housing supply to meet the identified need for
affordable housing within Whitehaven and the wider Borough. The proposed mix of
housing accords with the mix detailed in Policy SS3 and the SHMA and would provide 14
affordable units that would be managed by a RSL.
The scale, design and layout is considered to be acceptable and will provide an attractive
and modern appearance which will complete the Jefferson Park estate.

Page 66

Issues relating to ecology, landscaping, parking, drainage and ground conditions have been
fully considered and suitably worded planning conditions suggested in order to ensure that
full information is received and approved prior to the commencement of works, with
mitigation measures implemented where applicable.
All objections to the proposal have been considered and addressed.
In overall terms the benefits of the proposal would significantly outweigh any harm when
assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

Recommendation:Approve subject to the following conditions:-

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason
To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Permission shall relate to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development shall be carried out in accordance with them: Site Location Plan, scale 1:1250, drawing number 101, received 22nd July 2021;
Block Plan, scale 1:200, drawing number 201, received 22nd July 2021;
Site Plan, scale 1:200, drawing number 202, received 14th September 2021;
HT01 Floor Plans and Elevations, scale 1:100, drawing number 203, received 22nd
July 2021;
HT01 Floor Plans and Elevations, scale 1:100, drawing number 204, received 22nd
July 2021;
Materials and Boundary plan, scale 1:200, drawing number 205, received 22nd July
2021;
Site Sections, scale 1:200, drawing number 206, received 22nd July 2021;
House Types, scale 1:100, drawing number 207, received 22nd July 2021;
External Materials Schedule, drawing number 001, received 22nd July 2021;
Topographical Information, scale 1:200, drawing number 102, received 22nd July
2021;
Phase 1 and II Geo-Environmental Site Investigation, written by E3P, received 22nd
July 2021;
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, written by Hesketh Ecology, received 14th
September 2021;

Page 67

Coal Mining Risk Assessment, written by E3P, received 14th September 2021;
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Phase 2, written by RG Parkins,
received 14th September 2021;
Operation and Maintenance Plan for Sustainable Drainage Systems Phase 2, written
by RG Parkins, received 8th November 2021;
Affordable Housing Statement, received 22nd July 2021;
Transport Statement, written by Modal Highway Consultants Limited, received 22nd
July 2021;
Pre-development Arboricultural Report, written by Treescapes Consultancy Ltd,
received 22nd July 2021;
Design and Access Statement, written by Home Group, received 22nd July 2021.
Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Pre-commencement Conditions
3.

No development must commence until the remediation works and/or mitigation
measures to address land instability arising from coal mining legacy have been
implemented on site in full in order to ensure that the site is made safe and stable
for the development proposed.
The intrusive site investigations and remedial works must be carried out in
accordance with authoritative UK guidance.
Reason
To ensure that land stability is ensured in accordance with Policy ST1 of the
Copeland Local Plan.

4.

Prior to the commencement of development, a full and detailed specification for the
consolidation of abandoned mine workings must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To ensure the stability of the land, in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland
Local Plan.

5.

Prior to the commencement of works, the current gas regime on site following Ciria
665, undertaking monitoring for a minimum of 3 months with at least 1
measurement below 1000 millibars must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

Page 68

Reason
To ensure that the site is suitable for residential development in accordance with
Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

6.

No development approved by this planning permission must commence until a
remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site
in respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the
following components:
1. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to
in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving
full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken.
2. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning
authority. The scheme must be implemented as approved and maintained as such at
all times thereafter.
Reason
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
in accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

7.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a condition and capacity survey of
the culverted watercourse (or piped drainage system) downstream of the surface
water discharge point shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority. The
information provided should also include mitigation measures where it is deemed
the improvements are required.
Reason
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the
risk of flooding and pollution. This condition is imposed in light of policies within the
NPPF and NPPG and in accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland
Local Plan.

Page 69

8.

Prior to the commencement of development, a construction management plan must
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
This must include the following as a minimum:
˗

˗
˗

˗
˗

All HGV deliveries to the site must be carried out solely between the hours of
09:00 and 17:00 Monday to Friday. There must be no HGV deliveries on
Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays;
No idling or waiting by deliveries to prevent noise nuisance;
Construction operating hours must not exceed 08:00 – 18:00 Monday to
Friday, 08:00 – 13:00 Saturdays and no operation on Sunday or Bank
Holidays;
Dust emissions, noise and vibration levels and remedial action to prevent
nuisance from dust, noise and vibration;
A contact telephone number for members of the public to report any
concerns or complaints.

Reason
To safeguard the amenity of the existing occupants on Jefferson Park and in
accordance with Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan.

9.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a detailed soft
landscaping plan must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Any approved landscaping must be implemented according to the
approved plans and retained as such at all times thereafter.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development in the interests of visual
amenity and in accordance with Policy DM26 of the Copeland Local Plan.

10.

Prior to the commencement of development, an Arboricultural Method Statement
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All
details approved must be implemented and retained as such at all times thereafter.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance and method in accordance with Policy DM26 of
the Copeland Local Plan.

Pre-occupation Condition

Page 70

11.

Prior to the occupation of the development, or it being taken into beneficial use, a
signed statement or declaration prepared by a suitably competent person confirming
that the site is, or has been made, safe and stable for the approved development
must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. This
document must confirm the methods and findings of the intrusive site investigations
and the completion of any remedial works and/or mitigation necessary to address
the risks posed by past coal mining activity.
Reason
To safeguard the amenities of occupiers and in accordance with Policy ST1 of the
Copeland Local Plan.

Other Conditions
12.

All external lighting must meet the guidelines and obtrusive limits details in the
institute of lighting professionals Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive light
(GN01:2011) and be retained as such at all times thereafter.
Reason
To ensure the amenity of all occupants in accordance with Policy ST1 of the
Copeland Local Plan.

13.

The drainage for the development hereby approved, must be carried out in
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage
Design Drawing K38379 - 100, Rev 0 - Dated 02.07.2021 which was prepared by
RGPARKNS. For the avoidance of doubt and unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or
indirectly into the public sewer. The development must be completed in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in
surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding and in accordance with
Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.

14.

The development must be constructed, maintained and managed in accordance with
the Operation and Maintenance Plan for Sustainable Drainage Systems, written by
R.G. Parkins, received 14th September 2021 for the lifetime of the use of the site.
Reason

Page 71

To ensure a satisfactory scheme of surface water disposal from the site and in
accordance with Policies ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan.

15.

All recommendations and mitigations set out in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal,
written by Hesketh Ecology, received 14th September 2021 must be considered and
implemented at all times during the site clearance and ongoing development.
Reason
To ensure the protection of all species and possible species on site and in accordance
with Policy ENV3 of the Copeland Local Plan.

Informatives
1. The proposed development lies within an area that has been defined by the Coal
Authority as containing potential hazards arising from former coal mining activity. These
hazards can include: mine entries (shafts and adits); shallow coal workings; geological
features (fissures and break lines); mine gas and previous surface mining sites. Although
such hazards are seldom readily visible, they can often be present and problems can occur
in the future, particularly as a result of development taking place.
It is recommended that information outlining how the former mining activities affect the
proposed development, along with any mitigation measures required (for example the need
for gas protection measures within the foundations), be submitted alongside any
subsequent application for Building Regulations approval (if relevant). Any form of
development over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry can be dangerous and
raises significant safety and engineering risks and exposes all parties to potential financial
liabilities. As a general precautionary principle, the Coal Authority considers that the
building over or within the influencing distance of a mine entry should wherever possible be
avoided. In exceptional circumstance where this is unavoidable, expert advice must be
sought to ensure that a suitable engineering design is developed and agreed with regulatory
bodies which takes into account of all the relevant safety and environmental risk factors,
including gas and mine-water. Your attention is drawn to the Coal Authority Policy in
relation to new development and mine entries available at:
<https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-on-or-within-the-influencingdistance-of-mine-entries>
Any intrusive activities which disturb or enter any coal seams, coal mine workings or coal
mine entries (shafts and adits) requires a Coal Authority Permit. Such activities could
include site investigation boreholes, digging of foundations, piling activities, other ground
works and any subsequent treatment of coal mine workings and coal mine entries for
ground stability purposes. Failure to obtain a Coal Authority Permit for such activities is
trespass, with the potential for court action.
Property specific summary information on past, current and future coal mining activity can

Page 72

be obtained from: www.groundstability.com <http://www.groundstability.com> or a similar
service provider.
If any of the coal mining features are unexpectedly encountered during development, this
should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848. Further
information is available on the Coal Authority website at:
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority
2. A PROW (public footpath/bridleway/byway) number 43101lies adjacent to the site, the
Applicant must ensure that no obstruction to the footpath occurs during, or after the
completion of the site works.

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning
policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4c

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Management Section

Date of Meeting: 24/11/2021

Application Number:

4/21/2364/0L1

Application Type:

Listed Building Consent : CBC

Applicant:

Energy Coast West Cumbria (Properties) Ltd

Application Address:

6-8 DUKE STREET, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS TO
REFURBISH EXISTING LISTED BUILDING

Parish:

Whitehaven

Recommendation Summary:

Approve Listed Building Consent (start within 3yr)

Page 75

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the
Planning and Place Manager considers it to be of sufficient importance in planning terms to
refer to the Planning Panel for determination. The Council also has a financial interest as
part owners of BEC

Site and Location
This application site comprises the property known as 6-8 Duke Street, a four-storey
building within the town centre of Whitehaven.
The building is currently vacant but was formerly operated as a furniture store by Whittles.

Page 76

The building lies within a prominent location at the junction between Duke Street and
Tangier Street and is visible from King Street, the main pedestrianised thoroughfare within
the town centre.
The building comprises a Grade II Listed Building. The listing entry for the building states the
following:
“II Dated 1889. Stuccoed, 3 storeys. Paired pilasters at ends, set in 3 tiers - Tuscan,
Corinthian, and Tuscan. Ground floor has shop fronts. 1st floor has 5 windows (some 6-light
cross type, others 2-light sashes, 3 with broken pediments). Top floor has 5 sashes with plain
pediments. The 2nd bay is emphasised by a top dormer with scrolled pediment, pilasters and
wings, and 1st floor by a swag on the pediment.
Nos 4, 5, the Co-operative Store, Whittle's Furniture Store, The Globe Hotel Nos 105 and l05A
form a group.”
The building is also situated within the Whitehaven Conservation Area.

Proposal
The existing building is now vacant and is in a very poor condition. This application seeks
Listed Building Consent for various internal and external alterations to enable a
refurbishment of the existing listed building.
The internal works include:
-

The refurbishment of the interior, making good walls, ceilings and structural fabric;
A new interior at the ground floor, subdividing the upper two floors, and making
some changes to the partition walls creating rooms to the rear of the building.

The external works include:
-

The renovation of the buildings external façade with render and stucco features
made good and repainted;
The existing first and second floor windows to be made good and repainted;
A new contemporary fascia for signage encapsulating the former awning timber
boxing and support;
The replacement of the front glazing with slim line double glazed units with solar
controlled glass and aluminum frames;
The plinth tiles and window vents to be made good;
A small roof terrace will also be created which will be defined by a glass balustrade;
The installation of PV panels on part of the roof of the building.

The application is supported by the following:
-

Site Location Plan
Elevation Plans
Sectional Plans
Floor Layout Plans
Design, Access and Planning Statement
Visual Building Feature and Fabric Assessment

Page 77

-

Heritage Statement
Indicative External Image 1
Indicative Internal Image 1
Indicative Internal Image 2
Indicative PV array design
Indicative Details of Window Head, Door Threshold, Plinth and Terrace Balustrade
and Door Threshold.

This proposal has been submitted in tandem with a planning application Planning
Permission for the conversion and alterations to the building (application reference
4/21/2365/0F1 relates).

Relevant Planning Application History
Planning Permission has previously been granted for:
-

Insertion of a fire exit on the side elevation (ref: 4/92/0916/0)
Replacement of two first floor windows (ref: 4/93/0710/0)

Listed Building Consent has previously been granted for:
-

Insertion of a fire exit on the side elevation (ref: 4/92/0915/0)
Replacement of two first floor windows (ref: 4/93/0711/0)
A Replacement Shop Front (ref: 4/18/2206/0L1) - withdrawn

Consultation Responses
Whitehaven Town Council
No negative objections or comments.
Conservation Officer
Initial Comments - 8th September 2021:
6-8 Duke Street is a former Whittles furniture shop across three floors, which was
constructed in several phases, is grade II listed and within Whitehaven Conservation Area.
Conclusion: Request further information
Assessment:





Well thought-out series of interventions, designed to bring this vulnerable heritage
asset back into use and protect it from further decay. There is very little here that
could be considered less than positive given the state of the building.
Excellent heritage statement outlines development, significance, receptiveness to
change, and justifications clearly.
The rooftop glass balustrading will introduce a slight detriment to the setting of the
building and of the Waverley Hotel adjacent where there is intervisibility, but this
could be considered less-than-substantial harm and at the lower end of that scale,
justified on the basis of allowing access to the roof, which will be of public benefit

Page 78















and contribute to the building’s viable use. Taken in sum, the proposals will have a
positive effect on the settings of both buildings.
Externally, the most notable departure is the new fascia band and shopfront. The
fascia has been designed in such a way that subtly responds to the rhythm of the
façade above without appearing apologetic and provides protection for the
retractable awning box.
I note that the fascia band is designed to terminate to the left of the fire exit door,
where the glazing ends – Would this be better continued to the end of the building
as it’s visually functioning as a plinth, giving the top of the building the impression of
sitting on it. Cut short, it perhaps leaves the top right end of the Duke St. elevation
looking unbalanced.
There will be some change to the external appearance through the new glazing
system, and aside from the obvious improvement in condition, this will necessitate
the removal of the timber framing and its replacement with aluminum. This could be
seen as entailing less-than-substantial harm to its significance, towards the lower
end of that scale, however, the existing glazing is mid-20th century and does not
particularly contribute to the significance of the building; the proposed system will
sit alongside the new fascia as a unified modern intervention, but with a subtle
character that does not overpower the façade of the building, which would seem to
be suitable justification.
From the perspective of external appearance, a large part of the success of such a
system is its ability to show off an active and welcoming interior. Given the proposed
interior and building use, the two appear complimentary. In terms of the area of
glazing, there is also no change in comparison with the existing system.
Internally, the building is largely a blank slate, having had the majority of its interior
stripped out over the 20th century in the aim of creating open plan floor plates. The
lift and staircases (both central within the plan, and in the corner on the top floor)
are exceptions, and there are some sections of dentilled cornicing remaining, which
likely date from the 1909 or the mid-20th century overhauls.
The proposal retains these features, while inserting a new interior at the ground
floor, subdividing the upper two floors, and making some changes to the partition
walls creating rooms at the rear of the plan. I do not believe that the subdivision of
the upper floors into smaller rooms could be said to have any impact on the heritage
significance, and the partition walls are twentieth century infill of no value.
The proposal to insert PVs, terrace and balustrade at roof level will make better use
of this underutilised part of the building with minimal impact, contributing to its
optimum viable use and increasing the usability of the third floor.

Summary:
I am supportive of this proposal, which I view as well conceived and of good quality. It is
likely it will give the building an optimum viable use, and be beneficial for the conservation
area and building itself. However, there are one or two points that should have a bit of
expansion:

Page 79








As the fascia band works visually as a plinth, would it look better if continued to the
end of the Duke Street elevation, above the fire door? Currently, there is a possible
risk of this part of the façade looking lop-sided or top-heavy.
It would be useful to have detail drawings of the new shopfront glazing system and
the rooftop balustrade.
I would also request information about the mounting of PVs, the routing of their
services and the location of inverters, control modules etc. within the building
(presumably the basement?).
The extent of surviving lath and plaster is not mentioned within the heritage
statement, so if this could be updated, or a note added detailing its extent and the
proposal for its repair, that would be very helpful. The example photo provided in
the condition survey shows a section on the second floor ceiling where the plaster
has fallen away but the laths appear to be in good condition.

Additional Comments – 18th October 2021:
Conclusion: No objection (two conditions suggested)
Assessment:









I note that the fascia band has been carried through to the end of the elevation,
which gives a more balanced appearance.
It appears from the elevation drawings that the PV array will be visible from some of
the upper windows of the adjoining Waverley Hotel. I would view this as less-thansubstantial harm to the setting of the Waverley Hotel, justified by the improvement
in energy efficiency of 6-8 Duke Street.
However, if there is not substantial energy generation by these panels, that weakens
the justification. It appears, looking at the roof plan, that there may be significant
shading of the panels by the top floor of the building and the surrounding buildings. I
note that a detailed Engineer’s specification is required at RIBA 4 stage, so suggest
making the arrangement of PV panels a discharge item contingent on evidence that
they will be viable in this location.
Indicative detail sections have been provided for the glazing system and rooftop
systems (doors, terrace, and parapet).
I note the revision to accessible WC layout on ground and 1st floor plans. I do not
believe this will have any impact on the significance of the building.
I have not been able to locate details on location of surviving lath and plaster, or
proposal for its repair. A section is shown in the condition survey photos, but there is
no detail about its extent in the building, or how it will be addressed. I suggest a
condition may be the best way to approach this.

I suggest conditioning the following two aspects:


Information on the viability of the PV panel array on the roof should be supplied at
RIBA 4 stage when the M&E engineer is able to produce a specification, prior to
installing such an array, in order to demonstrate that it is viable and therefore
justifies a less-than-substantial harm to the setting of the grade II listed Waverley
Hotel next door.

Page 80



Detail on the extent of surviving lath and plaster, and the proposal for its repair,
should be supplied prior to stripping out the building interior surfaces in order to
protect any surviving and reparable areas from harm.

Whitehaven Heritage Action Group
All members of Whitehaven Heritage Action Group welcome news of the application and
repair works which has long been a major blight on the townscape, even before its official
closure as a furniture store. Some however questioned about the use as a community digital
hub and cafe and noted possible alternatives to attract and retain visitors and highlight its
history.
The view is expressed that the town already has a good many cafes and "every new one
takes business away from those already established and trying to make a go of it, dividing
the cake into even smaller slices is not very imaginative. Folks do not drive here just to visit
a cafe.”
Although members would like to see something created that would encourage people to
visit the town, they accepted that it was difficult to know what that could be. They also
accepted that given the current difficulties for retail, it would be unrealistic to expect a large
big name store to move in.
There is a relief that the building is at last to be repaired and renovated, hopefully to a good
standard, and gratitude to those willing to take on the task, but also some concern about its
future viability if not put to full use, together with the fear it could be left to slowly
deteriorate again, and no one wants that. It is to be hoped that the demand for the
proposed community use is there.
National Amenities Societies
No comments received.
Public Representations
The application has been advertised by way of press notice and site notice - No objections
have been received as a result of this consultation process.

Planning Policies
Planning law requires applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Core Strategy
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ENV4 – Heritage Assets
Development Management Policies (DMP)

Page 81

Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM27 – Built Heritage and Archaeology
Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (LBCA)
Conservation Area Design Guide SPD 2017
Shopfront Design Guide SPD 2021
Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ELP):
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Preferred
Options Consultation. The Preferred Options Consultation builds upon the completed Issues
and Options Consultation, which finished in January 2020. Given the stage of preparation,
the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has only limited weight in decision making,
but provides an indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which
themselves have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Assessment
The key issues raised by this application relate to the appropriateness of the design
proposals and their potential impacts on the heritage asset and wider Conservation Area.
These are considered below.
Design Proposals and Impact on Heritage Assets
Policy ST1 and section 12 of the NPPF seek to promote high quality designs. Policy DM10
seeks to ensure high standards of design are maintained, with appropriate scale and
materials, responding to the character of the site.
Policy ENV4 and DM27 seek to protect the built heritage and maximise the value. DM27
supports development proposals which protect, conserve and where possible enhance the
historic and cultural architectural character of the Borough’s historic sites and their settings.
The Conservation Area Design Guide and the Shopfront Design Guide are material
considerations in the determination of planning applications within conservation areas and
affecting shopfronts. Both are therefore applicable to this application.
The LBCA sets out a clear presumption that gives considerable importance and weight to the
desirability of preserving a heritage asset and its setting.
Section 66.1 of the LBCA requires that in considering whether to grant planning permission
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the Local Planning Authority
shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
Section 72 requires that: ‘special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance’ of a conservation area.

Page 82

Paragraphs 184 – 202 of the NPPF in respect of heritage include a requirement that when
considering the impact of development proposals on designated heritage assets such as
listed buildings, great weight should be given to the conservation of the asset’s significance;
however, less than significant harm should be weighed against the public benefits of a
development.
The Conservation Officer considers the proposal to be a well thought-out intervention,
designed to bring this vulnerable heritage asset back into use and protect it from further
decay. Given the state of the vacant building, the proposed works are considered to be
significant improvements and the Heritage Statement is considered to clearly outline and
justify the development, significance, receptiveness to change.
Internally, the building has an open floor plan as the majority of its interior was removed
over the 20th century. The central lift and staircases, including the corner staircase on the
top floor are exceptions, with some sections of dentilled cornicing remaining. The proposal
retains these features, while inserting a new interior at the ground floor and subdividing the
upper two floors into office spaces, break rooms, meeting rooms and other office based
facilities. It is not considered that the subdivision of the upper floors would have any impact
on the heritage significance. To preserve the historic fabric, the Conservation Officer has
requested prior to the stripping out of the building interior surfaces, detail on the extent of
surviving lath and plaster, and the proposal for its repair, should be supplied. This will
protect any surviving and reparable areas from harm and this can be secured by a planning
condition.
Externally, the design of the fascia subtly responds to the rhythm of the façade above and
provides protection for the retractable awning box. The Conservation Officer raised
comments on the fascia band design and therefore amendments were provided by the
agent. The amended fascia band will run to the end of the elevation, which gives a more
balanced appearance and this is considered to be an improved design.
The façade, stucco features, first and second floor windows, plinth tiles and window vents
will be made good and repainted to ensure the building fabric is safeguarded for future
generations. This can also be secured by the use of a planning condition.
Due to the condition of the current timber framed windows, a new aluminium framed
glazing system is proposed. This could be considered as entailing less-than-substantial harm
to its significance, however the Conservation Officer is of the opinion that the existing
glazing is mid-20th century and does not particularly contribute to the significance of the
building. The proposed glazing system will sit alongside the new fascia as a unified modern
intervention. The new shop front will have a subtle character that does not overpower the
façade of the building and therefore it is considered to be suitable justification. In addition,
the new shop front glazing will provide an improved active frontage and show off the
welcoming interior. Overall, the area of glazing will not change and therefore the new
glazing system is considered to be acceptable.
In addition, the proposal to insert PV panels and create a terrace with glass balustrade at
roof level will make better use of this underutilised part of the building with minimal impact,
contributing to its optimum viable use and increasing the usability of the third floor.

Page 83

However, it will introduce a slight detriment to the setting of the building and of the
adjacent Waverley Hotel where there some of the PV panels and glass balustrade will be
visible from some of the upper windows of the adjoining Waverley Hotel. The Conservation
Officer considered this as less-than-substantial harm to the setting of the Waverley Hotel,
justified by the public benefit, the contribution to the building’s viable use and the
improvement in energy efficiency. However, if there is not substantial energy generation by
these panels, that weakens the justification. The Conservation Officer has noted that there
may be significant shading of the panels by the top floor of the building and the surrounding
buildings and therefore he has requested that details of the PV specification should be
provided to ensure the PV installation will be viable. This can be secured by the use of a
suitably worded planning condition.
On this basis, subject to the inclusion of the planning conditions requested, the proposed
internal and external alterations are considered to be acceptable. Despite some less-thansubstantial harm being identified above, the justification and wider public benefits are
considered to outweigh any harm. The Conservation Officer supports the application as the
works will preserve the currently vulnerable Listed Building and enhance the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with
Policies ST1, ENV4 and DM27 of the Local Plan.
In applying the statutory duties of the LBCA, the relevant provisions of the NPPF and the
Development Plan, it is considered that as proposed the development will preserve and
enhance the character of the conservation area and Grade II Listed Building.
Planning Balance
On balance, the proposal will bring the vulnerable heritage asset back into use and protect it
from further decay while providing a community ‘digital hub’ and office space. The proposal
will therefore promote economic benefits to the local economy and enhance the existing
heritage assets. Despite some less-than-substantial harm being identified above, the
justification and wider public benefits are considered to outweigh this potential harm.
Great weight should be given to the proposed works which will preserve the heritage asset
and its setting. The application relates to an important prominent building within
Whitehaven Town Centre and therefore it is considered to enhance the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area. The proposal also suitably preserves the special
architectural or historic interest of the listed building while creating a high quality
development.

Recommendation:Approve subject to the following conditions

Conditions
Standard Conditions:

Page 84

1. The works hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from the date of
this decision.
Reason
To comply with the requirements of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

Permission shall relate to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development shall be carried out in accordance with them: -

Site Location Plan, scale 1:1250 @A3, reference AS21.35.L.01.00 Rev P1, received
17th August 2021;
Existing GA Elevations, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.04 Rev P2, received
21st September 2021;
Proposed GA Elevations, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.04.00 Rev P3,
received 21st September 2021;
Existing Basement Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.04 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing Ground Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.00 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing First Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.01 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing Second Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.02 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing Third Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.03 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Proposed Basement Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.04 Rev P2,
received 17th August 2021;
Proposed Ground Floor, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.00 Rev P3,
received 21st September 2021;
Proposed First Floor, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.01 Rev P3, received
21st September 2021;
Proposed Second Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.02 Rev P3,
received 17th August 2021;
Proposed Third Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.03 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Design, Access and Planning Statement, received 17th August 2021;
Visual Building Feature and Fabric Assessment, received 17 th August 2021;
Heritage Statement, Revision A, received 12th October 2021;
Indicative External Image 1, received 17th August 2021;
Indicative Internal Image 1, received 17th August 2021;
Indicative Internal Image 2, received 17th August 2021;

Page 85

-

-

Indicative Details of PV Array, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.21.01 Rev P1,
received 21st September 2021;
Indicative Details of Window Head, Door Threshold, Plinth and Terrace Balustrade
and Door Threshold, scale 1:10 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.21.00 Rev P1, received 21 st
September 2021;
Proposed Floor Plan – Third (Phased Plan), scale 1:100 @A1, reference
AS21.35.L.02.04 Rev P1, received 4th November 2021.
Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

3.

The external finishes of the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the details set out in the Design, Access and Planning Statement.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the building in the interests of visual amenity
and ensure that the character and appearance of the surrounding Conservation Area
is preserved and maintained in accordance with Policy DM27 of the Copeland Local
Plan.

4.

Alterations to the shop front hereby approved shall be carried out in strict
accordance with the details illustrated on the approved Proposed Elevation Plan
reference AS21.35.L.04.00 Rev P3 received by the Local Planning Authority on 21 st
September 2021.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and to preserve and maintain the character of the Listed
Building and Wider Conservation Area.

Prior to Occupation/First Use Conditions
5.

Prior to the stripping out of the building’s interior surfaces, detail on the extent of
surviving lath and plaster, and the proposal for its repair shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works of repair shall be
completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason

Page 86

For the avoidance of doubt and to protect any surviving and reparable areas of the
original plaster from harm and to ensure that a satisfactory standard of
refurbishment and restoration is achieved in accordance with Policy DM10 of the
Copeland Local Plan.
6.

Prior to their installation, full details and specification of the PV panels that are to be
installed on the roof shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. These details shall include information on their energy
generation to verify the viability of utilising this form of renewable energy system.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details at all
times thereafter. The PV panels shall be removed from the roof area once they cease
to be operational and the roof surface shall be restored to its previous condition.
Reason
In order to demonstrate that the installation is viable and to minimise any harm to
the setting of the adjoined listed Waverley Hotel.

7.

Prior to the installation of any external lighting on site, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details of the lighting shall
be in accordance with the Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light
produced by the Institute of Lighting Professionals and shall be maintained as per
the approved details at all times thereafter.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and to preserve and maintain the character of the Listed
Building and Wider Conservation Area.

8.

Prior to their installation, full details of any CCTV equipment to be used on the
exterior of the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and to preserve and maintain the character of the Listed
Building and Wider Conservation Area.

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning

Page 87

policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 88

Agenda Item 4d

To: PLANNING PANEL

Development Management Section

Date of Meeting: 24/11/2021

Application Number:

4/21/2365/0F1

Application Type:

Full : CBC

Applicant:

Energy Coast West Cumbria (Properties) Ltd

Application Address:

6-8 DUKE STREET, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ALTERATIONS/REFURBISHMENT AND CHANGE OF
USE OF VACANT FORMER WHITTLES FURNITURE
STORE TO FORM A COMMUNITY DIGITAL HUB AND
CAFE INCLUDING THE CREATION OF A ROOF
TERRACE.

Parish:

Whitehaven

Recommendation Summary:

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Page 89

Crown Copyright. Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005).

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel
The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel as the Head
of Planning and Place considers it to be of sufficient importance in planning terms to refer to
the Planning Panel. The Council also has a financial interest as part owners of BEC.

Site and Location
This application site comprises the property known as 6-8 Duke Street, a four-storey building
within the town centre of Whitehaven.
The building is currently vacant but formerly operated as a furniture store by Whittles.

Page 90

The building lies within a prominent location at the junction between Duke Street and Tangier
Street and is visible from King Street, the main pedestrian thoroughfare within the town
centre.
The building is Grade II Listed and situated within the Whitehaven Conservation Area.

Proposal
Planning Permission is sought for various external alterations to refurbish the existing
building and allow its change of use to form a community digital hub and café.
The external alterations include the replacement of the store front glazing with aluminium
framed slim-line double glazed units with solar controlled glass and the installation of a new
contemporary fascia encapsulating the former awning timber boxing and support. The
existing plinth tiles on the front elevation and the window vents are to be repaired and the
buildings external façade, which includes render and stucco features, and the existing first
and second floor windows will be made good and be repainted.
A modest terrace will also be created on part of the roof which will be defined by a glass
balustrade. It is also proposed to install an array of PV panels on another section of the roof.
The proposed change of use will create a modern and flexible space both for public use and
the housing of fledgling businesses who will create and develop designs and products. The
ground floor will be arranged to incorporate a café, seating and service desks (Class A3 use).
The upper floors will be used for associated services including flexible office and meeting
areas, facilitating a modern collaborative workspace environment for making, learning,
exploring and sharing.
The application is accompanied by the following information:-

Site Location Plan
Elevation Plans
Sectional Plans
Floor Layout Plans
Design, Access and Planning Statement
Visual Building Feature and Fabric Assessment
Heritage Statement
Indicative External Image 1
Indicative Internal Image 1
Indicative Internal Image 2
Indicative PV array design
Indicative Details of Window Head, Door Threshold, Plinth and Terrace Balustrade
and Door Threshold.

This proposal has been submitted in tandem with an application for Listed Building Consent
(application reference 4/21/2364/0L1 relates).

Page 91

Relevant Planning Application History
Planning Permission has previously been granted for:
-

Insertion of a fire exit on the side elevation (ref: 4/92/0916/0)
Replacement of two first floor windows (ref: 4/93/0710/0)

Listed Building Consent has previously been granted for:
-

Insertion of a fire exit on the side elevation (ref: 4/92/0915/0)
Replacement of two first floor windows (ref: 4/93/0711/0)
A Replacement Shop Front (ref: 4/18/2206/0L1) - withdrawn

Consultation Responses
Whitehaven Town Council
No negative objections or comments.
Cumbria County Council Highways Authority
As the existing building has no vehicle entrance or parking but good transport links we as
the LHA have no objections.
Local Lead Flood Authority
As the existing building is already connected to the existing system and no alterations are
planning to change this connection we as the LLFA have no objections.
Environmental Health
Support the application but request the following conditions be considered and applied if
necessary:
-

All external lighting used on site must meet and comply with the guidelines and
obtrusive light limits detailed in the Institute of Lighting Professionals Guidance
Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light 2011 for the lifetime of the development.

-

A noise assessment, carried out by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant, and in
accordance with British Standard 4142 2014 should be made on any plant or
equipment capable of causing nuisance from noise and vibration.

Conservation Officer
Initial Comments - 8th September 2021:
6-8 Duke Street is a former Whittles furniture shop across three floors, which was
constructed in several phases, is grade II listed and within Whitehaven Conservation Area.
Conclusion: Request further information
Assessment:


Well thought-out series of interventions, designed to bring this vulnerable heritage
asset back into use and protect it from further decay. There is very little here that
could be considered less than positive given the state of the building.

Page 92


















Excellent heritage statement outlines development, significance, receptiveness to
change, and justifications clearly.
The rooftop glass balustrading will introduce a slight detriment to the setting of the
building and of the Waverley Hotel adjacent where there is intervisibility, but this
could be considered less-than-substantial harm and at the lower end of that scale,
justified on the basis of allowing access to the roof, which will be of public benefit
and contribute to the building’s viable use. Taken in sum, the proposals will have a
positive effect on the settings of both buildings.
Externally, the most notable departure is the new fascia band and shopfront. The
fascia has been designed in such a way that subtly responds to the rhythm of the
façade above without appearing apologetic and provides protection for the
retractable awning box.
I note that the fascia band is designed to terminate to the left of the fire exit door,
where the glazing ends – Would this be better continued to the end of the building
as it’s visually functioning as a plinth, giving the top of the building the impression of
sitting on it. Cut short, it perhaps leaves the top right end of the Duke St. elevation
looking unbalanced.
There will be some change to the external appearance through the new glazing
system, and aside from the obvious improvement in condition, this will necessitate
the removal of the timber framing and its replacement with aluminum. This could be
seen as entailing less-than-substantial harm to its significance, towards the lower
end of that scale, however, the existing glazing is mid-20th century and does not
particularly contribute to the significance of the building; the proposed system will
sit alongside the new fascia as a unified modern intervention, but with a subtle
character that does not overpower the façade of the building, which would seem to
be suitable justification.
From the perspective of external appearance, a large part of the success of such a
system is its ability to show off an active and welcoming interior. Given the proposed
interior and building use, the two appear complimentary. In terms of the area of
glazing, there is also no change in comparison with the existing system.
Internally, the building is largely a blank slate, having had the majority of its interior
stripped out over the 20th century in the aim of creating open plan floor plates. The
lift and staircases (both central within the plan, and in the corner on the top floor)
are exceptions, and there are some sections of dentilled cornicing remaining, which
likely date from the 1909 or the mid-20th century overhauls.
The proposal retains these features, while inserting a new interior at the ground
floor, subdividing the upper two floors, and making some changes to the partition
walls creating rooms at the rear of the plan. I do not believe that the subdivision of
the upper floors into smaller rooms could be said to have any impact on the heritage
significance, and the partition walls are twentieth century infill of no value.
The proposal to insert PVs, terrace and balustrade at roof level will make better use
of this underutilised part of the building with minimal impact, contributing to its
optimum viable use and increasing the usability of the third floor.

Page 93

Summary:
I am supportive of this proposal, which I view as well conceived and of good quality. It is
likely it will give the building an optimum viable use, and be beneficial for the conservation
area and building itself. However, there are one or two points that should have a bit of
expansion:







As the fascia band works visually as a plinth, would it look better if continued to the
end of the Duke Street elevation, above the fire door? Currently, there is a possible
risk of this part of the façade looking lop-sided or top-heavy.
It would be useful to have detail drawings of the new shopfront glazing system and
the rooftop balustrade.
I would also request information about the mounting of PVs, the routing of their
services and the location of inverters, control modules etc. within the building
(presumably the basement?).
The extent of surviving lath and plaster is not mentioned within the heritage
statement, so if this could be updated, or a note added detailing its extent and the
proposal for its repair, that would be very helpful. The example photo provided in
the condition survey shows a section on the second floor ceiling where the plaster
has fallen away but the laths appear to be in good condition.

Additional Comments – 18th October 2021:
Conclusion: No objection (two conditions suggested)
Assessment:









I note that the fascia band has been carried through to the end of the elevation,
which gives a more balanced appearance.
It appears from the elevation drawings that the PV array will be visible from some of
the upper windows of the adjoining Waverley Hotel. I would view this as less-thansubstantial harm to the setting of the Waverley Hotel, justified by the improvement
in energy efficiency of 6-8 Duke Street.
However, if there is not substantial energy generation by these panels, that weakens
the justification. It appears, looking at the roof plan, that there may be significant
shading of the panels by the top floor of the building and the surrounding buildings. I
note that a detailed Engineer’s specification is required at RIBA 4 stage, so suggest
making the arrangement of PV panels a discharge item contingent on evidence that
they will be viable in this location.
Indicative detail sections have been provided for the glazing system and rooftop
systems (doors, terrace, and parapet).
I note the revision to accessible WC layout on ground and 1st floor plans. I do not
believe this will have any impact on the significance of the building.
I have not been able to located details on location of surviving lath and plaster, or
proposal for its repair. A section is shown in the condition survey photos, but there is

Page 94

no detail about its extent in the building, or how it will be addressed. I suggest a
condition may be the best way to approach this.
I suggest conditioning the following two aspects:




Information on the viability of the PV panel array on the roof should be supplied at
RIBA 4 stage when the M&E engineer is able to produce a specification, prior to
installing such an array, in order to demonstrate that it is viable and therefore
justifies a less-than-substantial harm to the setting of the grade II listed Waverley
Hotel next door.
Detail on the extent of surviving lath and plaster, and the proposal for its repair,
should be supplied prior to stripping out the building interior surfaces in order to
protect any surviving and reparable areas from harm.

Whitehaven Heritage Action Group
All members of Whitehaven Heritage Action Group welcome news of the application and
repair works which has long been a major blight on the townscape, even before its official
closure as a furniture store. Some however questioned about the use as a community digital
hub and cafe and noted possible alternatives to attract and retain visitors and highlight its
history.
The view is expressed that the town already has a good many cafes and "every new one
takes business away from those already established and trying to make a go of it, dividing
the cake into even smaller slices is not very imaginative. Folks do not drive here just to visit
a cafe.”
Although members would like to see something created that would encourage people to
visit the town, they accepted that it was difficult to know what that could be. They also
accepted that given the current difficulties for retail, it would be unrealistic to expect a large
big name store to move in.
There is a relief that the building is at last to be repaired and renovated, hopefully to a good
standard, and gratitude to those willing to take on the task, but also some concern about its
future viability if not put to full use, together with the fear it could be left to slowly
deteriorate again, and no one wants that. It is to be hoped that the demand for the
proposed community use is there.
Copeland Disability Forum
Initial Comments:
Before CDF submit a formal response please can you confirm:
1. Ground floor and first floor toilet seems to have an inward opening door – usually for
disabled toilets the door opens outwards – specifically in case the disabled person fall and
blocks the door opening inwards when help is summoned. We would like to know why the
doors are inward opening. Also will there be an alarm fitted in both disabled toilets.
2. Can you confirm that the lift will be accessible to all floors open to the public and will be
suitable for wheelchair users to use independently?

Page 95

Final Comments:
Following receipt of revised drawings with doors opening out on these floors and
confirmation lift will be accessible/suitable for wheelchair users CDF fully support the
application.
National Amenities Societies
No comments received.
Public Representations
The application has been advertised by way of press notice, site notice and neighbour
notification letters to 3 properties.
No objections have been received as a result of this consultation process.
One letter of support was received, which raised the following points:
-

Pleased that this building is finally going to be renovated;

-

Allowing public access to ground floor toilets, baby change room and breastfeeding
area in this community hub?

-

Allowing/ encouraging multi lingual signage?

-

Making sure there is level access for wheelchair users and mobility scooters?

-

Painting the external facades in a colour which enhances the area, and not a garish
colour?

-

Ensuring any associated street furniture takes account of those who may be partially
sighted, and doesn’t unduly clutter the corner of Tangier St/ Duke St?

Planning Policies
Planning law requires applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Development Plan
Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)
Core Strategy
Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles
Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy
Policy ST3 – Strategic Development Priorities
Policy ER5 – Improving the Quality of Employment Space
Policy ER6 – Location of Employment
Policy ER7 – Principal Town Centre, Key Service Centres, Local Centres and other service
area: Roles and Functions
Policy ER8 – Whitehaven Town Centre

Page 96

Policy ER11 – Developing Enterprise and Skills
Policy SS4 – Community and Cultural Facilities and Services
Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management
Policy ENV4 – Heritage Assets
Development Management Policies (DMP)
Policy DM6A – Managing Non-Retail Development in Town Centres
Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place
Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards
Policy DM21 – Protecting Community Facilities
Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments
Policy DM24 – Development Proposals and Flood Risk
Policy DM27 – Built Heritage and Archaeology
Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (LBCA)
Conservation Area Design Guide SPD (2017).
Shopfront Design Guide SPD (2021).
Cumbria Development Design Guide.
Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ELP):
The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Preferred
Options Consultation. The Preferred Options Consultation builds upon the completed Issues
and Options Consultation, which finished in January 2020. Given the stage of preparation,
the emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has only limited weight in decision making,
but provides an indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which
themselves have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Assessment
The key issues raised by this proposed are the principle of development and the suitability
of the proposed use in the town centre, its design and the impacts on the heritage assets,
the impact on residential amenity, accessibility, highway safety and parking and flood risk.
Principle of Development
Policy ST1 supports diversity in jobs, especially that which creates and attracts business.

Page 97

Policy ST2 identifies Whitehaven as the Principal Service Centre, which will comprise the
focus for the largest scale development, regeneration and important development
opportunities.
Policy ST3 outlines that sites within central Whitehaven and the town centre are priorities in
the pursuit of economic regeneration and growth.
Policy ER5 seeks to improve the quality of Copeland’s employment land portfolio by
prioritising high-quality office provision within Whitehaven and Key Service Centres to meet
inward investment needs and promoting investment in the public realm at specific
employment sites.
Policy ER6 states that employment development will be supported in Whitehaven.
Policy ER7 seeks to reinforce the role of Whitehaven as the Principal Town through the
promotion of a flexible, mixed-use approach, the improvement of strategic and local
accessibility, and supporting its continued growth.
Policy ER8 encourages development in the defined Whitehaven Town Centre including that
which: responds to and consolidates the status of Whitehaven as the first and most
complete post mediaeval planned town in the country; improves the links and re-establishes
the connectivity between the town centre and harbour; diversifies the ‘offer’ within the
town; maintains high standards of design consistent with the setting of a Conservation Area
of national significance; and, improves the range of activities available to local residents and
visitors.
Policy ER11 develops enterprise and skills, working with local people to enhance inward
investment, encouraging start-ups and focussing employment in Whitehaven.
Policy DM6A seeks to protect and promote the vitality and viability of defined town centres
by seeking for the most part continuous retail outlets and frontages at the ground floor of
premises within the designated Primary Frontages Area in Whitehaven; permitting nonretail uses and other leisure uses in the town centres where support the night time
economy, provided that such uses do not lead to an overconcentration of non-retail units;
and, requiring non-retail uses in premises with shop frontages to incorporate a suitable
window display.
Policy DM11 requires development to be in accordance with sustainable development
standards.
In addition, Policies SS4 and DM21 allow for the expansion and or enhancement of existing
community and cultural facilities to assist continuing viability, particularly in areas where
new development will increase the demand for facilities.
The NPPF states that this application should be considered in the context of the
presumption in favour of sustainable development, and that local planning authorities
should deliver employment and space for enterprise and skills.
The application relates to a vacant, derelict listed building which lies within the Town Centre
boundary. Whitehaven is designated as the Principal Service Centre within the Borough
under Policy ST2 of the Local Plan.

Page 98

The creation of a community digital hub and café with high quality flexible office space will
help meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs employment and skills market as
supported by Policies ER5 and ER11. The proposed use is considered to be acceptable within
the prominent town centre location and it will promote mixed-use employment
development in Whitehaven Town Centre as supported by Policies ST2 and ER6.
The provision of high quality office accommodation and a digital hub will help in diversifying
the employment opportunities within Whitehaven and specifically Whitehaven Town Centre
and strengthen its role as the economic hub of the Borough. The development also holds
the potential to result in the creation of new jobs within the borough as supported by Policy
ER6.
Although the development will result in the loss of a retail unit within Whitehaven Town
Centre, the unit is currently vacant and is not designated as part of the Primary Retail
Frontage which comprises the units along King Street. The proposed development includes a
community digital hub with a café on the ground floor, maintaining an active frontage to the
element of the building facing the primary retail area. There are no provisions in Policy ER7
and Policy DM6A requiring compensation for the loss of retail floor space and in light of the
availability of a number of other vacant retail units within Whitehaven Town Centre,
adverse impacts on the wider retail provision and offer will not reasonably result.
In wider economic terms, the development would support other economic uses including
the leisure offer in Whitehaven Town Centre and the night-time economy as supported by
Policy ER9. The development will also deliver direct and indirect employment and local
spending during the construction phase.
Despite concerns received as part of the consultation period regarding the use, the principle
of employment provisions and economic growth is strongly supported in the Copeland Local
Plan through strategic policies ST1, ST2 and ST3 along with policies ER5, ER6, ER7, ER8, and
ER11 and development management policies DM6A and DM11, subject to site specific
matters which are considered below.
The proposed community digital hub will also provide community facilities, within a suitable
location of the town centre. The principle of community services and provisions is strongly
supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic Policy SS4 and Development
Management Policy DM21.
On the basis of the above, the principle development is considered to be acceptable and the
digital and community hub is considered to be a suitable use within this town centre
location. Overall, the proposal complies with the aims and objectives of the NPPF as well as
the relevant policies of the adopted Copeland Local Plan.
Design and Impact on Heritage Assets
Policy ENV4 and Policy DM27 seeks to protect, conserve and where possible enhance listed
buildings, conversation areas and their settings and strengthening the distinctive character
of the boroughs settlements through high quality urban design that respects this character.
Policy DM10 expects high standards of design and the fostering of quality places. It is
required that development responds positively to the character of the site and the

Page 99

immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness. It is required that
development incorporate existing features and address vulnerability to and fear of crime
and antisocial behaviour.
The Conservation Area Design Guide and the Shopfront Design Guide are material
considerations in the determination of planning applications within conservation areas and
affecting shopfronts. Both are therefore applicable to this application.
The LBCA sets out a clear presumption that gives considerable importance and weight to the
desirability of preserving a heritage asset and its setting.
Section 66.1 requires that: ‘In considering whether to grant planning permission for
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as
the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses’.
Section 72 requires that: ‘special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance’ of a conservation area
Paragraphs 184 – 202 of the NPPF in respect of heritage include a requirement that when
considering the impact of development proposals on designated heritage assets such as
listed buildings, great weight should be given to the conservation of the asset’s significance;
however, less than significant harm should be weighed against the public benefits of a
development.
The application relates to a grade II Listed Building which lies within Whitehaven Town
Centre Conservation Area.
Support was received from a member of the public and Whitehaven Heritage Action Group,
who were happy to see plans in place to improve and repair this derelict building.
The alterations are considered to be appropriate in terms of scale and design and are
reasonably required to redevelop the vacant listed building. The façade, stucco features,
first and second floor windows, plinth tiles and window vents will be made good and
repainted to ensure the building fabric is safeguarded for future generations. This can also
be secured by the use of a planning condition.
Additional details regarding the fascia band were sought and the amended shop front
design with the fascia band being carried through to the end of the elevation along Duke
Street is considered to give a more balanced appearance and improved design.
The replacement glazing will also provide a modern store front glazing system with
associated safety and solar controlled glazing. This could be seen as entailing less-thansubstantial harm to its significance, towards the lower end of that scale, however, the
existing glazing is mid-20th century and does not particularly contribute to the significance of
the building. The proposed glazing system will sit alongside the new fascia as a unified
modern intervention. The new shop front will have a subtle character that does not
overpower the façade of the building and therefore it is considered to be suitable
justification. In addition, the new shop front glazing will provide an improved active frontage

Page 100

and show off the welcoming interior. Overall, the area of glazing will not change and
therefore the new glazing system is considered to be acceptable.
In addition, the proposal to insert PV panels, a roof terrace and a glass balustrade at roof
level will make better use of this underutilised part of the building with minimal impact,
contributing to its optimum viable use and increasing the usability of the third floor.
However, it will introduce a slight detriment to the setting of the building and of the
adjacent Waverley Hotel where some of the PV panels and glass balustrade will be visible
from some of the upper windows of the adjoining Waverley Hotel. The Conservation Officer
considers this as less-than-substantial harm to the setting of the Waverley Hotel, justified by
the public benefit, the contribution to the building’s viable use and the improvement in
energy efficiency. Although it was noted that if there is not substantial energy generation by
these panels, that weakens the justification. The Conservation Officer notes that there may
be significant shading of the panels by the top floor of the building and the surrounding
buildings and therefore details of the PV specification should be provided to ensure the PV
installation will be viable. This can be secured by the use of a suitably worded planning
condition.
The Conservation Officer supports the high quality proposal and in applying the tests of the
LBCA, the proposal would result in some enhancement and some harm to the Conservation
Area. Utilising the terminology of the NPPF, the impacts would be less than substantial and
great weight should be given to the public benefit and overall enhancement of the character
and appearance of the Conservation Area.
The development would result in heritage related public benefits and wider economic and
social benefits to the locality as outlined above. In weighing up these benefits against those
adverse aspects identified, the proposal would provide a sufficient set of gains with which to
outweigh the harm that would occur to the heritage assets, and so allow for a departure
from the statutory duty of the LBCA in accordance with Paragraphs 189-208 of the NPPF.
On this basis, subject to the inclusion of relevant planning conditions, the proposal is
considered to comply with Policies ENV4, DM10 and DM27 and the Conservation Area
Design Guide and the Shopfront Design Guide.
Impact of Development on Residential Amenity
The application relates to a mixed use area within Whitehaven Town Centre and therefore
the potential impact or disturbance on neighbouring amenity resulting from the proposed
use is not considered to be unacceptable.
The use of roof terrace is considered to maximise the use of the building, although the
impact on the neighbouring properties must be considered. The roof terrace will be stepped
away from the neighbouring building, the Waverley Hotel by approximately 7 metres and it
will include a glazed balustrade to mitigate potential impacts. A planning condition is
proposed to restrict the use of the roof terrace to a seating/amenity area which is ancillary
to the main use of the building and is clearly defined to a specific portion of the roof. On this
basis, the roof terrace shown on the plan is considered to be acceptable, although a
planning condition is proposed to restrict the hours of use to provide additional protection
of residential amenity.

Page 101

In addition, Environmental Health raised no objections to the proposal but suggested two
conditions regarding a plant noise assessment and external lighting which are both
considered to be reasonable.
On this basis, subject to the inclusion of the planning conditions outlined, the proposal will
not cause an unacceptable harm to residential amenity within the immediate locality.
Accessibility
Policy DM22 requires development proposals to be accessible to all users.
Copeland Disability Forum raised questions regarding inward opening toilet doors and the
accessibility and suitability of the lift for wheelchair users. In response to this the applicants
agent submitted amended plans which specified outward opening doors and provided
confirmation that the lift will be accessible/suitable for wheelchair users. The Copeland
Disability Forum confirmed they fully support the application on the basis of these revisions.
Additional details from the agent also confirmed that the design will need comply with Part
M of the Building Regulations to ensure there is an access suitable for wheelchair users and
mobility scooters.
Overall, the proposal is considered to be accessible to all in accordance with Policy DM22.
Highway Safety and Parking
Policy DM22 requires development proposals to be accessible to all users; respond
positively to existing movement patterns in the area; and, incorporate parking provision to
meet adopted car parking standards.
The application site lies within the town centre boundary and therefore benefits from good
public transport provision. The Highway Authority noted this and raised no objections to the
application.
On this basis, the proposal is considered to satisfy Policy DM22 and the Cumbria
Development Design Guide.
Flood Risk and Drainage
Policy ENV1 sets out an approach to ensure that new build development is not prejudiced
by flood risk. Any risk should be managed appropriately. Policy DM24 seeks to ensure that
new development is not at unacceptable risk of flooding and appropriate mitigation
measures should be provided where necessary.
The application site is located within Flood Zone 1, which has a low probability of flooding
and the application relates to an existing building. As the building is already connected to
the existing drainage system and no alterations are proposed to change this connection, the
LLFA have raised no objections to the proposal.
On this basis, the proposal is considered to satisfy Policies ENV1 and DM24.

Page 102

Planning Balance
The existing former Whittles building is currently vacant and is in a very poor condition. It
occupies a prominent location within the town centre and currently has a negative impact
on the character and appearance of this part of the Conservation Area.
The application seeks planning permission for various alterations to secure a refurbishment
of the existing building and allow its use to be changed to form a community digital hub and
café.
The proposal is considered to provide an appropriate and viable use which will provide
sustainable employment and community space within Whitehaven Town Centre. The
proposed use is considered to be appropriate for this town centre location and the design
proposals to alter and refurbish the building are considered to be sympathetic and respect
the character of the historic building and the wider Conservation Area.
Amendments have been secured to improve the shop front design and also to ensure that
the building is fully accessible.
In applying the tests of the LBCA, the proposal would result in some enhancement and some
harm to the identified heritage assets. Although all significant heritage aspects of the
building are considered to be preserved and therefore despite some less-than-substantial
harm being identified above, the justification in the Heritage Statement and wider public
benefits are considered to outweigh any potential harm and so satisfy the tests of the LBCA.
Great weight should be given to the economic and social public benefit and overall
preservation and enhancement of the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.
No issues are arising in respect of neighbouring amenity, accessibility, highway safety, flood
risk subject to the planning conditions proposed.
In the context of the above, the proposal is considered to accord with the relevant
provisions of the development plan and the NPPF and the application is therefore
recommended for approval subject to the planning conditions as outlined below.

Recommendation:Approve subject to the following conditions

Conditions
Standard Conditions:

1.

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.
Reason

Page 103

To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.

Permission shall relate to the following plans and documents as received on the
respective dates and development shall be carried out in accordance with them: -

-

Site Location Plan, scale 1:1250 @A3, reference AS21.35.L.01.00 Rev P1, received
17th August 2021;
Existing GA Elevations, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.04 Rev P2, received
21st September 2021;
Proposed GA Elevations, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.04.00 Rev P3,
received 21st September 2021;
Existing Basement Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.04 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing Ground Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.00 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing First Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.01 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing Second Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.02 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Existing Third Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.09.03 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Proposed Basement Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.04 Rev P2,
received 17th August 2021;
Proposed Ground Floor, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.00 Rev P3,
received 21st September 2021;
Proposed First Floor, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.01 Rev P3, received
21st September 2021;
Proposed Second Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.02 Rev P3,
received 17th August 2021;
Proposed Third Floor Plan, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.02.03 Rev P1,
received 17th August 2021;
Design, Access and Planning Statement, received 17th August 2021;
Visual Building Feature and Fabric Assessment, received 17 th August 2021;
Heritage Statement, Revision A, received 12th October 2021;
Indicative External Image 1, received 17th August 2021;
Indicative Internal Image 1, received 17th August 2021;
Indicative Internal Image 2, received 17th August 2021;
Indicative Details of PV Array, scale 1:100 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.21.01 Rev P1,
received 21st September 2021;
Indicative Details of Window Head, Door Threshold, Plinth and Terrace Balustrade
and Door Threshold, scale 1:10 @A1, reference AS21.35.L.21.00 Rev P1, received 21 st
September 2021;
Proposed Floor Plan – Third (Phased Plan), scale 1:100 @A1, reference
AS21.35.L.02.04 Rev P1, received 4th November 2021.

Page 104

Reason
To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
3.

The external finishes of the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the details set out in the Design, Access and Planning Statement
received by the Local Planning Authority on 17th August 2021.

Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the building in the interests of visual amenity
and ensure that the character and appearance of the surrounding Conservation Area
is preserved and maintained in accordance with Policy DM27 of the Copeland Local
Plan.

4.

Alterations to the shop front hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance
with the details illustrated on the approved Proposed Elevation Plan reference
AS21.35.L.04.00 Rev P3 received by the Local Planning Authority on 21 st September
2021.

Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the building in the interests of visual amenity
and ensure that the character and appearance of the surrounding Conservation Area
is preserved and maintained in accordance with Policy DM27 of the Copeland Local
Plan.

Prior to Occupation/First Use Conditions:
5.

Prior to their installation, full details and specification of the PV panels that are to be
installed on the roof shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. These details shall include information on their energy
generation to verify the viability of utilising this form of renewable energy system.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details at all
times thereafter. The PV panels shall be removed from the roof area once they cease
to be operational and the roof surface shall be restored to its previous condition.

Reason
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the impact of the PV panels is
minimised to protect the character and appearance of the building and the wider
Conservation Area.

Page 105

6.

Prior to the installation of any external lighting on site, details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details of the lighting shall
be in accordance with the Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light
produced by the Institute of Lighting Professionals and shall be maintained as per the
approved details at all times thereafter.

Reason
In order to protect occupiers of the surrounding residential properties and in the
interests of visual amenity.

7.

Prior to the installation of any plant or equipment capable of causing nuisance from
noise and vibration, a noise assessment shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment must be carried out by a
suitably qualified acoustic consultant and in accordance with British Standard 4142
2014 should be made. Any mitigation measures identified within the noise
assessment shall be implemented before the plant or equipment is operational.
Reason
In order to protect the amenity of the occupiers of the surrounding residential
properties.

8.

Prior to their installation, full details of any CCTV equipment to be used on the
exterior of the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and shall be maintained as such thereafter.

Reason
In the interest of visual amenity.

Construction:
9.

During the construction phase, development shall take place during the following
hours and at no other times whatsoever:
Monday to Friday – 08:00 – 18:00
Saturday – 08:00 – 13:00

Reason

Page 106

In order to ensure a reasonable standard of amenity for the surrounding properties.

Restrictions on Use:
10.

The use of the roof terrace shall be restricted to a seating/amenity area which is
ancillary to the main use of the building and shall not extend outside the area
highlighted as ‘ Zone B’ and must not include the area shown as ‘Zone A’ on the
approved Proposed Third Floor Plan reference AS21.35.L.02.04 Rev P1 received by
the Local Planning Authority on 4th November 2021.

Reason
To minimise potential disturbance to nearby residents as a result of noise.

11.

There shall be no operational use of the roof terrace hereby approved between the
houses of 21:00 and 09:00 on any day.

Reason
To minimise potential disturbance to nearby residents as a result of noise.

12.

The café use hereby approved shall only open to the public between the hours of
Monday to Sunday 08:00 to 22:00.

Reason
In the interest of neighbouring amenity.

Informative
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain unrecorded coal
mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered during development, this
should be reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848.
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at:
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority

Page 107

Statement
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning
policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 108

Agenda Item 5
Planning Panel 241121
DELEGATED DECISIONS
Lead Officer:

Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager

To inform Members of the Delegated Decisions made in the period
19 October 2021 to 12 November 2021.

Recommendation:

That the List of Delegated Decisions be noted.

Resource Implications: Nil
1. The Planning and Place Manager has delegated authority to determine
Planning Applications as stated in Chapter 10 of the Council’s
Constitution.
2. It is a requirement that the Planning and Place Manager report details of
all applications determined under delegated powers to the Planning
Panel.
3. Attached is a list of Delegated Decisions made in the period
19 October to 12 November 2021.

Contact Officer:

Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager

Appendix:

List of Delegated Decisions

Background Papers:

Page 109

Application Num 4/19/2140/0O1
Applicant

Mr A Butler, a2bdevelopments Limited, Broadstairs, 20 Rheda
Park, FRIZINGTON, Cumbria CA26 3TA,

Location

LAND TO NORTH OF ENNERDALE COUNTRY HOUSE HOTEL,
CLEATOR

Proposal

OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT
(WITH FULL DETAILS OF ACCESS) & DEMOLITION OF
DERELICT BARN

Decision

Refuse

Decision Date

29 October 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2102/0F1
Applicant
Location

Mr & Mrs Tomlinson, 3 West End, Rheda Park, Frizington,
CA26 3TA,
PLOT 3, WEST END, RHEDA PARK, FRIZINGTON,

Proposal

ERECTION OF DWELLING (AMENDMENT TO PREVIOUSLY
APPROVED DWELLING)

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

22 October 2021

Parish

Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/21/2156/0F1
Applicant

Mr Fraser Hogg, 1 Primrose Hill, Sandwith, Whitehaven, CA28
9UP,

Location

ADJOINING 1 PRIMROSE HILL COTTAGE, SANDWITH,
WHITHEAVEN

Proposal

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE & ERECTION OF TWO
BEDROOM DWELLING

Decision

Withdrawn

Decision Date

1 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2189/0F1
Applicant

Pow Beck Developments, 5 Cherry Holt Lane, East Bridgford,
Nottingham, NG13 8PN,

Location

POW BECK HOUSE, MEADOW ROAD, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

THE DEMOLITION OF AN EXISTING TWO STOREY BUILDING
FORMALLY POW BECK CARE HOME. THE ERECTION OF A NEW
CARE HOME (USE CLASS C2) WITH ASSOCIATED
LANDSCAPING COMPRISING OF 36 ONE AND TWO BEDROOM
FLATS OVER THREE STOREYS

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Page 110

Decision Date

12 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2158/DOC
Applicant

Mr Ralph Calvin, Dalelands, Sandwith, WHITEHAVEN, CA28
9UG,

Location

DALELANDS, SANDWITH, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3 AND 4 OF PLANNING
APPROVAL 4/20/2347/0B1

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

5 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2225/0F1
Applicant

Anne Woolley, 16 College View, Whitehaven, CA28 9PJ,

Location

16 COLLEGE VIEW, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ATTIC CONVERSION WITH DORMER WINDOWS TO FRONT
AND REAR ELEVATIONS

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

21 October 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2243/0B1
Applicant

Genesis Homes, 4 Cowper Way, Gilwilly, Penrith, Cumbria,
CA11 9BN,

Location

LAND AT NORTH PARK, RHEDA, FRIZINGTON

Proposal

VARIATION OF PLANNING CONDITION 1 ATTACHED TO
APPLICATION REF. 4/20/2417/0B1 – VARIATION OF HOUSE
DESIGNS TO PLOTS 39, 43, 50 AND 54.

Decision

Approve amendment of condition

Decision Date

8 November 2021

Parish

Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/21/2313/0F1
Applicant

Ryan Colaluca, 28 Wasdale Close, Whitehaven, Cumbria,
CA28 9SZ,

Location

28 WASDALE CLOSE, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ERECTION OF DECKING IN THE REAR GARDEN (PARTRETROSPECTIVE)

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

29 October 2021

Page 111

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2324/0F1
Applicant

Dave Nelson, Charlotte Cottage, 123 Shearing Road, Harlow,
CM17 0JP,

Location

ST BEES METHODIST CHURCH, MAIN STREET, ST BEES

Proposal

CHANGE OF USE FROM CHAPEL TO RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

12 November 2021

Parish

St. Bees

Application Num 4/21/2337/DOC
Applicant

CGP Ltd, Mainsgate Road, Millom, LA18, FAO Mr Jonathan
Blackhurst,

Location

C G P LTD, MAINSGATE ROAD, MILLOM

Proposal

DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 3, 4, 5 AND 6 OF PLANNING
APPROVAL 4/21/2121/0F1

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

2 November 2021

Parish

Millom

Application Num 4/21/2346/DOC
Applicant

A & C Watson, Rowan Garth, Tarn Flatt Lane, Sandwith,
Whitehaven, CA28 9DJ, FAO Messrs Watson,

Location

ROWAN GARTH, SANDWITH

Proposal

DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 OF PLANNING APPROVAL
4/21/2008/0F1

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

8 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2387/0F1
Applicant

Mr Dowbiggin & Miss Wilson, 57 Valley Park, Whitehaven,
CA28 8BA,

Location

57 VALLEY PARK, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SINGLE STOREY GARAGE AND
CONSTRUCTION OF TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

20 October 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Page 112

Application Num 4/21/2355/DOC
Applicant

AS Design, Brewery Yard, Industrial Estate, Birks Road,
CLEATOR MOOR, Cumbria CA25 5HU, FAO Mr A Ross,

Location

BREWERY INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, BIRKS ROAD, CLEATOR
MOOR

Proposal

DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 3 OF PLANNING APPLICATION
4/19/2061/0F1

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

29 October 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2399/0F1
Applicant

Mr Martin Bradley, 5 Oakfield Court, Hillcrest, Whitehaven,
CA28 6TG,

Location

5 OAKFIELD COURT, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING FLAT ROOM EXTENSION &
CONSTRUCTION OF NEW SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO
SIDE/REAR OF EXISTING DWELLING

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

27 October 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2408/0F1
Applicant

Mr Craig Levens, 1 Hartfield Court, Kells, Whitehaven, CA28
9LS,

Location

1 HARTFIELD CLOSE, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR OF PROPERTY

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

3 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2381/0F1
Applicant

CK Hutchison Networks (UK) Ltd, 14 Inverleith Place,
Edinburgh, EH3 5PZ, FAO: Thomas Gallivan,

Location

ALBION STREET, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

EXISTING TELECOMS INSTALLATION UPGRADE INVOLVING
THE REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF 3NO. ANTENNAS ONTO
EXISTING POLES, THE RE-LOCATION OF 1NO EXISTING 0.3M
MICROWAVE DISH AT A LOWER HEIGHT BY 500MM, THE
INSTALLATION OF 1NO. NEW CABINET ONTO A NEW
CONCRETE BASE (HAVING DIMENSIONS OF
1900X600X1752), THE REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF 1NO
EXISTING CABINET TOGETHER WITH THE INSTALLATION OF
ANCILLARY EQUIPMENT. THE CUMULATIVE VOLUME OF ALL

Page 113

CABINETS INSTALLED DOES NOT EXCEED 90M3.
Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

21 October 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2390/0F1
Applicant

Little Explorers, New House, Bowthorn Farm, Cleator Moor,
CA25 5JF, FAO: Dulcie Hyland,

Location

UNIT 16 LECONFIELD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, CLEATOR MOOR

Proposal

ERECTION OF A TEMPORARY MODULAR BUILDING TO THE
REAR OF THE UNIT & ERECTION OF 7FT FENCE

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

28 October 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2401/0F1
Applicant

Adam Brunskill, Calobra, The Green, Millom, LA18 5JT,

Location

CALOBRA, THE GREEN, MILLOM

Proposal

ERECT GARAGE/STORE EXTENSION ON FRONT/SIDE
ELEVATION

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

29 October 2021

Parish

Millom Without

Application Num 4/21/2395/0F1
Applicant

John Wright, 1 Tower View, Egremont, Cumbria, CA22 2BN,

Location

1 TOWER VIEW, EGREMONT

Proposal

PROPOSED SIDE AND REAR EXTENSION TO PROVIDE NEW
SUN ROOM

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

20 October 2021

Parish

Egremont

Application Num 4/21/2410/0F1
Applicant

Daniel Ditchburn, Bethshan House, Yewbarrow Close,
Whitehaven, CA28 8HB,

Location

BETHSHAN NURSING HOME, YEWBARROW CLOSE

Proposal

EXTENSION & NEW AUTOMATIC OPENING DOOR TO PORCH
TO MAKE IT FULLY WHEELCHAIR AND STRETCHER
ACCESSIBLE

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Page 114

Decision Date

5 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2402/0F1
Applicant

Swinley House Ltd, Greengate Business Centre, 2 Greengate
Street, Oldham, OL4 1FN,

Location

3 MARKET STREET, CLEATOR MOOR

Proposal

CONVERSION TO FORM 3 NO. ONE BEDROOMED
APARTMENTS (USE CLASS C3) AND 2 NO. SHORT LET HOTEL
SUITES (USE CLASS C1), 2 NEW DORMER WINDOWS TO
REAR, REPLACE EXISTING FRONT AND SIDE WINDOWS,
ENLARGEMENT OF 3 EXISTING REAR WINDOWS, ERECTION
OF SECURE CYCLE SHED TO REAR

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

11 November 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2403/0F1
Applicant

Mr Mark Hampton, Whinrigg, Bankfield, Beckermet, CA21
2YG,

Location

WHINRIGG, BANKFIELD, BECKERMET

Proposal

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF A UTILITY ROOM

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

29 October 2021

Parish

Beckermet with Thornhill

Application Num 4/21/2404/0F1
Applicant

Ms Melanie Comley, Woodside, Smithy Banks, Holmrook,
CA19 1TP,

Location

WOODSIDE, SMITHY BANKS, HOLMROOK

Proposal

ERECTION OF DETACHED GARAGE AND EXTENSION TO
EXISTING GAMES ROOM IN GARDEN TO FORM ANNEX
(RESUBMISSION/AMENDMENT TO APPROVED APPLICATION
4/21/2185/0F1)

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

29 October 2021

Parish

Drigg and Carleton

Application Num 4/21/2412/0F1
Applicant

High Grange Developments Ltd, P.O Box 77, Whitehaven,
CA28 6WA, FAO Mr Gary Reed,

Location

FORMER MAGISTRATES COURT, CATHERINE STREET,

Page 115

WHITEHAVEN
Proposal

APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION FOR DEMOLITION
& SITE CLEARANCE IN A CONSERVATION AREA - FORMER
MAGISTRATES COURT BUILDING

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

8 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2421/0F1
Applicant

Michelle Vickers, 31 South Row, Kells, Whitehaven, CA28 AY,

Location

LAND TO THE REAR OF 31 SOUTH ROW, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

ERECTION OF A GARAGE ON EXISTING SITE
(RETROSPECTIVE)

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

5 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2413/0B1
Applicant

Blaney & Findlay, 10 Aikbank Road, Whitehaven, , ,

Location

10 AIKBANK ROAD, WHITEHAVEN

Proposal

VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 (PLANS) OF PLANNING
APPROVAL 4/21/2148/0F1 DEMOLITION OF SIDE GARAGE
AND ERECTION OF A SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION - THE
PROPOSED ROOF TO HAVE A DIFFERENT PROFILE TO THAT
APPROVED

Decision

Approve amendment of condition

Decision Date

9 November 2021

Parish

Whitehaven

Application Num 4/21/2417/0F1
Applicant

Jessica Clark, Fairbank, Butler Street, Millom, LA18 5DU,

Location

FAIRBANK, BUTLER STREET, MILLOM

Proposal

CONSTRUCTION OF A SIDE AND REAR SINGLE STOREY
EXTENSION (FORMING BALCONY AT UPPER GROUND FLOOR
LEVEL) WITH NEW FRONT PORCH TO ENTRANCE WITH
INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ALTERATIONS PLUS LANDSCAPING
WORKS

Decision

Approve (commence within 3 years)

Decision Date

11 November 2021

Parish

Millom

Page 116

Application Num 4/21/2420/0F1
Applicant

NDA Properties Ltd, c/o Agent,

Location

LAND TO THE SOUTH OF NEWTON MANOR, GOSFORTH,
SEASCALE

Proposal

PRIOR NOTIFICATION OF PROPOSED DEMOLITION OF A
SMALL SINGLE STOREY OUTBUILDING (RESUBMISSION)

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

26 October 2021

Parish

Gosforth

Application Num 4/21/2424/0N1
Applicant

Mr Spencer, Dub Hall, Asby, , ,

Location

DUB HALL FARM, ARLECDON, FRIZINGTON

Proposal

APPLICATION TO DETERMINE IF PRIOR NOTIFICATION IS
REQUIRED FOR THE ERECTION OF A NEW AGRICULTURAL
BUILDING

Decision

Approve Notice of Intention

Decision Date

20 October 2021

Parish

Arlecdon and Frizington

Application Num 4/21/2451/0F1
Applicant

Mr Colin Benn, c/o Day Cummins,

Location

GROVE COURT HOTEL, CLEATOR

Proposal

APPLICATION TO DETERMINE IF PRIOR APPROVAL IS
REQUIRED TO DEMOLISH THE MAIN HOTEL BUILDING

Decision

Refuse

Decision Date

8 November 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2438/0F1
Applicant

Mr David Moore, 51 Keir Hardie Avenue, Cleator Moor, CA25
5EQ,

Location

51 KEIR HARDIE AVENUE, CLEATOR MOOR

Proposal

PROPOSED TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION AND SINGLE
STOREY REAR EXTENSION

Decision

Withdrawn

Decision Date

10 November 2021

Parish

Cleator Moor

Application Num 4/21/2439/DOC

Page 117

Applicant

R H Irving Construction Ltd, Hylton House, Borders Business
Park, Carlisle, CA6 5TD, FAO Mr Ian Wishart,

Location

FLEMING HALL, ACCESS ROAD TO FLEMING HALL AND
NEWTON MANOR FROM THE A595T, GOSFORTH

Proposal

DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 3 OF PLANNING APPROVAL
4/21/2347/0F1

Decision

Approve

Decision Date

2 November 2021

Parish

Gosforth

Page 118

Agenda Item 6
Planning Panel 24 November 2021
Lead Officer:

Nick Hayhurst – Head of Planning and Place

A report to update Members on the current status of the following planning
application:Planning Application Ref: 4/18/2287/0O1
Location: Land at Harras Moor, Whitehaven
Proposal: Outline Application For Development Of Up To 370 Houses With Associated
Open Space And Infrastructure

Recommendation:

That the report be noted

Resource Implications:

Nil

1.0.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.1.

An outline planning application was submitted by Homes England on 26 th June 2018
for the development of land at Harras Moor, Whitehaven to provide up to 370
dwellings.

1.2.

Following a site visit Members resolved at the Planning Panel meeting on 18th
September 2019 that they wished to go against their Planning Officers
recommendation and refuse the outline planning application. Members’ main
concerns resolved around highway safety and the adequacy of the local road
network to accommodate the likely volumes of traffic that would result from a
development of this a scale. In accordance with the Councils Constitution “minded
to” decisions are subject to a month cooling off period.

1.3.

There has been a significant delay in the processing of this planning application as
set out in the update report that was presented to members at the Planning Panel
on 1st September 2021. Since that time the applicant has undertaken the following:
-

-

The submission of additional information relating to Ecology and a Habitat
Regulations Assessment as requested by Natural England. Natural England has
been consulted on this additional information and have agreed to the proposals
subject to the inclusion of a planning condition;
The submission of a supporting letter to respond to the issues raised by the
Woodland Trust with regards to separation distances to the ancient woodland
which adjoins the application site;

Page 119

-

-

-

-

The preparation of an assessment on the need for sports provision in response to
the objection received from Sports England with regards to the loss of a former
sports pitch on the site. This matter is still under discussion with Sports England;
The agreement of the extent and general arrangement of off-site highway works
as required by both the Highway Authority and Highways England. It is
anticipated that they would be covered under a Section 278 agreement with the
Highways Authority;
The submission of a revised Planning Statement to reflect the changes to the
Council’s Planning Policy position with regards to the emerging Local Plan and
also to reflect recent revisions to the NPPF;
Refresh of various other reports due to the delays in the timescale to ensure that
they reflect the current situation; and
A review of the proposal by the applicant to reflect the issues raised by Covid-19
outbreak in terms of viability and phasing.

1.4.

The above reflects the complexity of the application and the need, due to the
timescales involved, to update the revised evidence that supports the overall
development. Discussions between Officers and Homes England are continuing to
resolve the outstanding issues before the application can be reported to Members
for a decision. The applicant has agreed an extension of time in order to allow the
process to continue.

1.5.

Members will be given a further update at a subsequent meeting within the 3 month
time period set out in the revised Constitution if the application is unable to be
presented to the Planning Panel for a decision in the intervening period.

Contact Officer:

Nick Hayhurst

Background Papers: Planning Application File Reference 4/20/2251/0O1

Page 120

